# WEALTH AND SEXUAL BEHAVIOUR AMONG MEN IN ZIMBABWE

A RESEARCH REPORT SUBMITTED TO THE SCHOOL OF SOCIAL SCIENCE, FACULTY OF HUMANITIES, UNIVERSITY OF WITWATERSRAND, JOHANNESBURG, IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE IN MASTER OF ARTS IN THE FIELD OF DEMOGRAPHY AND POPULATION STUDIES FOR THE YEAR 2010

\_\_\_\_\_

# **SHEPSTONE MUSIYARIRA**

Student Number: 327656

UNIVERSITY OF WITWATERSRAND, JOHANNESBURG

FACULTY OF HUMANITIES

SCHOOL OF SOCIAL SCIENCES

# **DECLARATION**

I, Shepstone Musiyarira, declare that this research report is my own unaided work. It is submitted for the degree of Master of Arts in Demography and Population Studies at the University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg. It has not been submitted before for any other degree or examination in any other university.

Signed:

Shepstone Musiyarira

Date: 1 July, 2011

# **Acknowledgements**

I thank God for seeing me through this study and express my sincere gratitude to my Supervisor Prof Clifford Odimegwu, my tutor Nicole De Wet, and the University of Witwatersrand for according me this opportunity to realize my dream of completing this Research Report. To Dr George Chitiyo, Mr Jonah Mafodya, Mr H Chipoyera and Mr Mica Katuruza, words fail me for I am grateful for your support. To my wife, Sandra Madondo- Musiyarira, my dad Jethro (Snr), mum Theresa Mandangu-Musiyarira, my brothers Aggrey, Harmony, Rodgers, Jethro (jnr) and Lazarus, my sisters Tiny, Eileen, Netsai, Tinashe and Priscilla, thank you for just being there and believing in me. Lastly many thanks go to my children: Delroy, Simbarashe, Tapiwanashe and Anotidaishe.

# **Dedication**

To my wonderful children Delroy, Simbarashe, Tapiwanashe and Anotidaishe

# **Acronyms**

# Acronyms: ZDHS Zimbabwe Demographic and Health Survey HIV**Human Immunodeficiency Virus Multiple Concurrent Partnerships** MCP SSA Sub-Saharan Africa Zimbabwe National Aids Council **ZNAC**

Wealth, Sexual behaviour, Multiple and Concurrent sexual partnerships

Key words:

# **ABSTRACT**

**INTRODUCTION:** Zimbabwe has witnessed a decline in HIV prevalence in the general population estimated to be 27% in 2001, 19% in 2005, 16% in 2007 and 14% in 2009 (Mapingure et al., 2010). Whilst it is a notable decline the rate is still high. Sexual behaviour change has been reported as key to this HIV prevalence decline. Partner reduction has been advocated as an important strategy in HIV prevention. Understanding the socioeconomic and demographic factors influencing the sexual behaviours that are either sustaining the declining, yet still high, prevalence rates is critical to inform interventions. There is growing interest in the association between individual's socioeconomic status and sexual risk taking behaviour in sub-Saharan Africa. The general objective was to examine the association between wealth and sexual behaviour among men in Zimbabwe.

**METHOD:** Analysis of data from 7175 sexually active aged 15-54 years who participated in the Zimbabwe's 2005/06 Demographic and Health Survey was done using logistic regression models and have reported odds ratios (OR) with Confidence intervals. In the multiple logistic regressions, two models were used. Model 1 included variables: wealth, age and education whilst in model 2 we controlled for: marital status, type of residence, region of residence and religion because these socio-demographic factors influence male sexual behaviour. The dependent variables included: unprotected sex at last encounter, multiple and concurrent sexual partnerships in last 12 months.

**RESULTS:** When we controlled for potential confounding effects of education, age, marital status, type of residence, region of residence and religion, men in the middle wealth category of the population were less likely to have engaged in unprotected sex in the last encounter with a non-spousal cohabiting partner (OR 0.41, 95% CI 0.22 to 0.76). Wealth was found to be not statistically significantly associated with multiple and concurrent sexual partnerships.

**CONCLUSION:** Wealthy men in Zimbabwe are less likely to engage in unprotected sex. Wealth's association with multiple and concurrent sexual partnerships was not confirmed in this study. Equitable distribution of wealth and sound economic policies are critical in improving the general welfare of nationals so as to reduce or eliminate some of the factors that cloud the associations between socioeconomic and demographic factors and sexual behaviours of individuals. Policies and programs that recommend deferral of gratification remain critical in order to reduce number of partners.

# **CONTENTS**

CHAPTER 1	9
1.0 Introduction and Background	9
1.2 Problem Statement	11
1.3 Research Question	16
1.4 Research Objectives	16
1.5 JUSTIFICATION OF STUDY	16
1.6 Definition of terms	18
CHAPTER 2	19
2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW	19
Introduction	19
Sexual behaviour of men	19
Socio-demographic determinants of behaviour	22
Wealth and Sexual behaviour of men	25
2.1 Conceptual and Theoretical Framework	28
CHAPTER 3	33
METHODS	33
3.1 Study Design	33
3.3 Variable Definitions	35
3.3.1 Dependent Variables	35
Table 3.1 Definition of dependent variables	36
3.3.2 Independent variables	38
3.4 Hypothesis	40
3.5 Ethical Considerations	41
3.6 Data Management	41
3.7 Data Analysis	42
CHAPTER 4	45
4.0 RESULTS	46
4.1 Characteristics of the respondents	46
4.1.2 Socio-demographic Characteristics of the respondents	46

4.1.3 Sexual behaviour characteristics of the respondents	49
4.1.4 Crosstabulation of sexual Behaviours and Wealth status	50
4.2 Bivariate analysis results	57
CHAPTER 5	68
5.0 MULTIVARIATE ANALYSES	68
5.2 Multiple logistic regression modelling results	70
CHAPTER 6	77
DISCUSSION	
Chapter 7	84
7.0 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	84
7.1 Conclusions	84
7.2 Recommendations	84
7.3 Limitations of the study	86
7.4 Areas of further research	88

# **CHAPTER 1**

# 1.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

In the Sub-Saharan Africa, Zimbabwe has attracted regional and international attention because of a plethora of socioeconomic and political reasons. Not enough attention has been given to Zimbabwe's ability to contain HIV and AIDs amidst a weak economy, poor international rapport, support, deteriorating health delivery system, increased local and international out migration. In the general population, HIV prevalence in Zimbabwe was estimated to be 27% in 2001, 19% in 2005, 16% in 2007 and 14% in 2009 (Mapingure, et. al, 2010; Halperin, et. al, 2011). Among pregnant women (15-49 years), HIV prevalence declined from 32% in 2000 to 26% in 2002, 18% in 2006 (Mapingure, 2010). The country is experiencing a decline in HIV prevalence, but the figures are still very high. The decline remains a key development achievement, considering Zimbabwe's context. This country is a key learning case with best practices that the rest of the developing countries especially countries in the Sub-Saharan Africa region can take a cue from.

The decline in HIV prevalence has been attributed by Halperin et al. (2011) to a number of factors but the reduction in sexual partners played a significant role in reducing HIV prevalence in Zimbabwe. The behaviour change celebrated, in this decline in HIV prevalence, was traced to a greater awareness of AIDS deaths, in addition to the country's economic deterioration, which left many men with less fungible resources or disposable income for transactional sex or maintain multiple concurrent sexual relationships. The researchers also reported that the prevention programs that provided educational messages through the mass media and interpersonal communication were likely to have also played a key role in influencing sexual behaviours of Zimbabweans (Halperin, et. al, 2011).

A number of key socioeconomic and demographic factors tend to influence risky sexual behaviours such as religion, culture, income, education, age, gender, sex and wealth. Apparently in Southern Africa, one of the socioeconomic factors that have been of interest to researchers is wealth. The wealthy nations like South Africa, Botswana and Ivory Coast have recorded generally high infection rates (Asare and Annim, 2008), with the poor countries like Zimbabwe, interestingly with low infection rates. This has increased interest among researchers who have reported that wealth status be positively associated with HIV infection in this region (Asare and Annim, 2008).

One of the major reasons that have brought the decline of Zimbabwe's HIV prevalence rates has been attributed to partner reduction due to inability by men to finance transactional sex and sustain concurrent sexual partnerships (Halperin, et. al, 2011). However according to Chingandu, (2007), casual sex seemed to have been replaced by "small house" phenomenon, a form of concurrent sexual partnership that seems "socially acceptable" considering its frequency in the urban areas. This is a sexual behaviour considered by some Zimbabwean men as a safer way of dealing with HIV and AIDS (Chingandu, 2007). The "small house" is " an informal, long-term, secret sexual relationship with another woman who is not a man's legal wife, carried on in a house that is a smaller version of the man's own home in another residential suburb" (Chingandu, 2007: p, 1). This form of concurrent sexual partnership practice is said to be common in other African countries often romanticized with a different name and context, like in Uganda (Parikh, 2007) and in Nigeria (Smith, 2007). Apparently, the sexual practice of "small house" seems to be driven mostly by wealth as mostly the men that have enough resources, to meet the needs of both the secondary and primary partners are able to engage in this sexual network (Chingandu, 2007).

What then are the socioeconomic and demographic factors that are influencing male sexual behaviours in Zimbabwe? Does wealth status of men in Zimbabwe associate with selected sexual behaviours? This study may help contribute to the understanding of the declining yet still high HIV prevalence rates in the country.

# 1.2 PROBLEM STATEMENT

Whilst there has been a notable decline in HIV prevalence rate since 2001, the rate is still high. Sexual behaviour change has been reported as key to this HIV prevalence decline. Of interest to planners, researchers and development stakeholders are the sexual behaviours that are either sustaining the prevalence rates in the high category (more than 10%, for the purposes of this study). It is these sexual behaviours that either contributes to the overall decline since 2001 or sustaining the HIV prevalence above 10%.

Hattori et al. (2010) noted that 11% of all the sexually active adults in Zimbabwe were engaging in the risky concurrent sexual partnerships in the month preceding the survey by Populations Services international. Amongst the married or cohabiting survey respondents, it was reported that 13% had reported having had sex with someone other than the main partner in the past month before the survey. It was also reported that 20% of those married or cohabiting men reported another sexual relationship, with only 5% of women reporting the same. In Zimbabwe, men ages 15-49 face a lower HIV prevalence rates of 15% compared to women at 21% in the same age group. This pattern is characteristic of the Southern and the east African regions (Hattori, et. al, 2010).

Most of the HIV infections in Zimbabwe are contracted through heterosexual contact (ZDHS, 2005/6). Thus in order to design and monitor intervention programs to contain the HIV infection spread, information on sexual behaviour is critical. The ZDHS (2005/6) reports that the high-risk sexual behaviour was noted more common among those who were not married at the time of the interview than among currently married respondents. The married men who engaged in high-risk sex were more likely to report condom use at last higher-risk sex than the unmarried ones. The group that had the highest average number of lifetime sexual partners (9.4 partners for men and 2.2 partners among women) was the divorced, separated, or widowed respondents (ZDHS, 2005/6). Urban residents compared with the rural residents, were both more likely to report engaging in risky sexual behaviour and using a condom at last higher-risk sex. Urban men reported an average of 6.2 lifetime sexual partners compared to 5 sexual partners among rural men (ZDHS, 2005/6).

The ZDHS (2005/6) noted that 4% of men reported paying for sexual intercourse at least once during the 12 months preceding the ZDHS. Condom use during the encounters was reported among nearly three-quarters of men who engaged in paid sex used a condom the last time they paid for sex. Divorced, widowed, and separated men (13 percent) had the highest rate of paid sex during the 12 months prior to the survey. In the survey, it was also reported that 20% of the divorced, separated, or widowed men who engaged in paid sex did not use a condom (ZDHS, 2005/6). Upon comparing the 2005-06 and 1999 ZDHS results show that, while Zimbabwean men may increasingly be avoiding the risks involved in transactional sex, when they do engage in paid sex, they are less likely than previously to use a condom. In 1999, it was reported that 7 % of these men paid for sex and 82 % reported condom use during last paid intercourse while, in the 2005-06 ZDHS, 4 % paid for sex and 74 % used a condom the last time they paid for sex (ZDHS, 2005/6).

Hattori (2010) agrees with Chingandu (2007) that within Zimbabwe there is a common practice called "small house" or an extramarital affair with another woman which has seemingly replaced casual sex. To these men faithfulness and monogamy are Western ideals and un-African. The men perceive "small houses" as non risky for HIV at all since the secondary partners are considered as faithful just like the primary sexual partner (legal wife/ partner). Use of condom with her is tantamount to accusing her of infidelity and may offend her (Chingandu, 2007). Population Services international (2008) reported that peer social pressure and perceived costs about loss of social status were important drivers in having more than one regular partner for men.

Sexual behaviours of both men and women have been greatly influenced by the patterns of migrant labour in Zimbabwe. To a great extent the marriage institution has been greatly affected. During the colonial era male Zimbabwean migrated to labour reserves or mines in the urban areas. Mazur (1987), reported that these migratory tendencies further increased after the war of liberation in 1980 with 50-75% males aged 25-44 migrating from rural to urban areas (Hattori, 2010). More internal migration was observed after the controversial land reform program and poor resettlement policies in 2000 which negatively affected agricultural production and the livelihoods of farm workers (Uusihakala, 2007; Hattori, 2010). The instability continued to be a push factor, pushing men into urban areas in search of economic opportunities. The negative effects of these migrations were much felt on marriages as married partners were forced to stay apart for the longest part of their time. Hattori et al. (2010) reports that the small house phenomenon is common in countries surrounding Zimbabwe such as Botswana, Namibia, Mozambique and South Africa.

These findings to a greater extent highlight the important association between economic instability and risky sexual behaviours such as multiple and concurrent sexual partnerships. A number of key socioeconomic and demographic factors have been known to influence risky sexual behaviours among both men and women. These factors include religion, culture, income, education, age, gender, sex and wealth to name a few for the purposes of this study.

In comparison to the wealthy nations in sub-Saharan Africa, that have recorded generally high infection rates (Asare and Annim, 2008). Zimbabwe is among the poorest nations in the same region with HIV prevalence rates greater than 14%. It is against this background that questions have been raised on the association between wealth and HIV infection in the region. Research reports have highlighted that wealth status has been positively associated with HIV infection in Southern Africa (Asare and Annim, 2008)

However the scenario, observed amongst the above named countries in the region that is Botswana, South Africa and Ivory Coast, is somewhat different at the individual or household level. Mixed patterns have been recorded on the association between wealth status at the individual or household level and HIV infection levels and this has generated interest amongst researchers. Individual or household background characteristics have been noted to be associated with risky sexual behaviours. It is these background characteristics that are fuelling the epidemic yet at the same time these background characteristics can also be protective determinants. There has been extensive debate on the link between wealth status and level of infection; wealth status and risky sexual behaviours with other researchers using "levels of infection" and "risky sexual behaviours" interchangeably (Asare and Annim, 2008).

It must be reiterated that there seems to be increasing evidence on the association between socioeconomic status of individuals and risky sexual behaviours in sub-Saharan Africa (Asare and Annim, 2008). A number of broad associations that include positive, neutral and negative associations between wealth status and risky sexual behaviour have been reported. Understanding of these associations including the determinants that influence social behaviour, interactions and activities of subgroups, is critical in facilitating the reduction of sex partners as a behavioural change strategy in fighting HIV (Asare and Annim, 2008). This study attempts to contribute to this understanding.

A thorough understanding of the social and demographic determinants of men's sexual behaviour in Sub-Saharan Africa informs interventions promoting partner reduction among men. Such understanding is critical for interventions to be effective. It should be noted that not much research has been done to inform policy and interventions that target men. This may be due to the focus on women's issues that emerged in the early 1990s and after the International Conference on Population and Development in Cairo, 1994. This premise unfortunately continues to dominate the social scientific thinking about HIV in Africa; ignoring men yet are a key variable in the HIV infection function (Ankrah, 1991; Caravano, 1991; de Bruyn, 1992; Bingenheimer, 2010). Of the social and demographic factors that have been studied, research on sexual behaviours of men has not given enough attention to wealth as an independent variable. Most studies have treated wealth as a control variable. An understanding of some of the determinants that can influence sexual behaviour, interactions and activities of subgroups will make a difference in the development of new strategies or policies to combat HIV not to mention the redistribution of resources on prevention strategies with known efficacy.

# 1.3 RESEARCH QUESTION

Is wealth status of men in Zimbabwe associated with their sexual behaviour?

# 1.4 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES

## 1.4.1 GENERAL OBJECTIVE

I. To examine the association between wealth and sexual behaviour among men in Zimbabwe.

# 1.4.2 Specific Objective

- i. To examine the sexual behaviour of men in Zimbabwe
- ii. To examine socio-demographic factors related to sexual behaviour of men in Zimbabwe
- iii. To determine the association between wealth and sexual behaviour of men in Zimbabwe.

# 1.5 JUSTIFICATION OF THE STUDY

There is debate on the increasing new evidence that seem to suggest broad associations between socioeconomic status of individuals and risky sexual behaviours in sub-Saharan Africa. The associations, emerging, between wealth status and risky sexual behaviour are either positive, neutral or negative (Asare and Annim, 2008). Thus this study will contribute to this debate. The Zimbabwean case, in this study, is interesting as the country is going through an economic recession. Their economic policy has been questioned by the local and international community but has still as a country managed to reduce its HIV prevalence rates from 25% five years ago to 13% now. It is my considered view that this brings in an interesting development in the aforementioned development. Thus this study on Zimbabwe will provide some contribution to

enrich the debate on these varied associations between socioeconomic status of individuals and risky sexual behaviours in sub-Saharan Africa.

The study explores the relationship (if any) between wealth status and risky behaviours limited for the purposes of this research to multiple concurrent partnerships and number of lifetime sexual partners as individual sexual behaviours that expose individuals at risk of contracting HIV using the 2005/6 Zimbabwe Demographic and Health Survey. This is pertinent to understand considering the risks exposed to the vulnerable and unsuspecting partners in a multiple concurrent partnership network. Most infections in Zimbabwe are contracted through heterosexual contact thus information on the level of sexual intercourse with a partner other than wife, cohabiting partner is critical for planning prevention programs and policy planning ( ZDHS, 2005/6). The extent of the problem of "small house" in Zimbabwe will be indirectly quantifiably extrapolated by proxy through levels of multiple concurrent partnerships amongst the married men.

Behaviour change is central to fighting HIV in Sub-Saharan Africa but to facilitate such change requires a deeper understanding of some of the determinants that influence social behaviour, interactions and activities of subpopulations (Asare and Annim, 2008). The study examines wealth as a background characteristic that influences sexual behaviour with the aim of informing HIV prevention programming and policy on salient factors to consider, that erode and compromise prevention efforts unnoticed. This ensures that resources are channelled towards prevention strategies with known efficacy.

# 1.6 DEFINITION OF TERMS

WEALTH

Various definitions and concepts of wealth have been asserted by various individuals and in different contexts (Denis, 1996). In general, wealth is the abundant acquisition of items of economic value, or the state of controlling or possessing such items of economic value which are often in the form of money, real estate and personal property. For the purposes of this study, the wealth considered is the household wealth, which is the net worth or, precisely, the value of physical and financial assets less liabilities of a household (Davies, et. al, 2008).

SEXUAL BEHAVIOUR

Sexual behaviour is defined as any behaviour that increase the risk of negative consequences associated with sexual contact that includes HIV and AIDS or other sexually transmitted infections (STIs) and unplanned pregnancy. The sexual behaviours include among many, engaging in unprotected sex, multiple and concurrent sexual partnerships.

# **CHAPTER 2**

# 2.0 LITERATURE REVIEW

# **I**NTRODUCTION

Sub-Saharan Africa's poorest nations make up 60% of the 2.5 million HIV infections in the region (Asare and Annim, 2008). Zimbabwe is amongst the seven African countries in which HIV prevalence exceeds 15%. The 2005/6 Zimbabwe DHS reports that knowledge levels of HIV and AIDS were generally universally high with 99% of men aged 15-49 years reporting that they had heard of HIV or AIDS. Less than half of these men (47%) had comprehensive knowledge about the modes of HIV transmission and prevention (ZDHS, 2005/6). Sadly, this high knowledge has not translated into safer sexual behaviours and practices (ZDHS, 2005/6).

# **S**EXUAL BEHAVIOUR OF MEN

Risky male sexual behaviour, whatever drives it, results in sexually transmitted diseases, among which is HIV. This is important because HIV infection constitutes the majority of mortality burden and morbidity associated with Sexually Transmitted Infections (Slaymaker, et. al, 2004). Examination of determinants of male sexual behaviour is crucial if strategies have to be developed to curb the pandemic. There have been, however, different schools of thought on the determinants of HIV in sub- Saharan Africa.

The sexual behaviours considered in this study are classified into two broad categories namely (i) indiscriminate behaviours (concurrent sexual partnerships, multiple concurrent sexual

partnerships, having risky, casual or unknown partners; and failure to discuss issues of risk prior to sexual encounter) and (ii) failure to take protective actions (use of condoms for protection and for birth control) (Cooper, 2002). Only few sexual behaviours were considered. An important question is about how the socioeconomic, demographic factors and sexual behaviours contribute to HIV Infection?

#### MULTIPLE AND CONCURRENT SEXUAL PARTNERSHIPS

According to UNAIDS Gaborone Meeting Report (2009), an expert think tank meeting reported that frequency of multiple concurrent sexual partnerships was identified as the key factor that was driving the HIV epidemic in SADC countries. This was also facilitated by other factors such as inconsistent correct use of condoms, low levels of male circumcision, gender inequality and low levels of male involvement and responsibility for sexual and reproductive health (UNAIDS 2009). Scientific literature is awash with evidence of concurrent sexual partnerships as an important factor reinforcing rapid growth of the HIV epidemic, particularly in Southern Africa.

Concurrent sexual practices according to Pebody (2009) describe situations in which an individual has overlapping sexual relations with more than one person. A sexual partnership is considered to be concurrent if a person reports having two or more sexual partners in the past month that overlap in time. Different time frames to describe multiple concurrent sexual partnerships are often used by different experts, including concurrent sexual partnerships that last one month or longer (Mah and Halperin, 2008; UNAIDS, 2009).

The current population surveys often measure multiple concurrent partnerships as two or more sexual partners over the last 12 months. This however does not differentiate concurrent or other

multiple partnerships. For the purposes of this study, concurrent sexual partnerships were extracted from number of sexual partners including wife or partner. Those that reported one partner other than wife were considered in this study as having concurrent sexual partnerships. Those men who reported having two or more partners other than wife were considered as having multiple concurrent sexual partnerships.

Multiple and concurrent sexual partnerships enhance HIV transmission when compared to sequential or serial partnerships. This is so because new infections tend to spread much faster through the sexual network when members of the network are simultaneously connected. They also enhance HIV transmission, because of the high levels of viral load in acute (early stage) HIV infection that facilitates transmission. This is why there has been emphasis in partner reduction interventions (Slaymaker, et. al, 2004).

## **UNPROTECTED SEX**

Condoms are efficient in preventing the transmission of HIV and other sexually transmitted diseases (Weller and Davis 2002; Slaymaker, et. al, 2004). However in a study carried out among men who attended an STI clinic in India, there was a protective association between reported condom use and HIV infection, an observation different from what is witnessed in African countries. The difference emanates from the fact that in African countries, condom use is often a sign or marker for risky sexual behaviour. Those that use condoms are those that see themselves at risk of infection. In such instances condoms would be protective if they were used correctly and consistently at each risky encounter. Condoms would also be protective if those in the HIV risky groups were initially more likely to use condoms. This protective effect would be apparent in the

population as condoms use becomes more widespread. Acceptability of alternative methods of contraception might affect the probability of a couple using a condom (Slaymaker, et. al, 2004).

# **S**OCIO-DEMOGRAPHIC DETERMINANTS OF BEHAVIOUR

This study addresses a number of key socioeconomic and demographic factors linked to these risky sexual behaviours include religion, culture, income, education, age, gender, sex and wealth.

## **EDUCATION LEVEL**

Higher income and education provide a protective effect against infection from HIV. Individuals with higher education have access to capital or fungible economic resources. These enable them to access protection and HIV prevention information. The educated also have the cognitive apparatus to process information since they have an education. Thus they seek protection or seek treatment of sexually transmitted diseases when infected for example (Asare and Annim, 2008; Bingenheimer, 2010). A study in Yaoundé in Cameroon showed that educated men were more likely to adopt safe sexual behaviours (Kongnyuy et.al, 2006). However, unsafe sexual behaviour has also been reported as significant with increasing education amongst Cameroon men (Glynn, et. al, 2004). A similar pattern was reported in the Rakai District of Uganda (Kirunga and Ntozi, 1997). Although the risk of HIV infection increased with the level of education in South-Western Uganda in 1989/1990, this trend reversed over the following decade such that in 1999/2000. The risk of HIV decreased with increasing education (Kongnyuy et.al, 2006; Paasche-Orlow, et. al, 2005; Walque et.al, 2005).

#### AGE

There is a correlation between age and whether or not an individual is sexually active and the likelihood that the individuals' sexual partner is their spouse. In countries with recent development of the epidemic, those countries with with low prevalence, the older age groups are likely to have lower cumulative exposure to infection if most of their past sexual exposure occurred during a period of low prevalence. Slaymaker et al. (2004) did not find any association between HIV infection and young age. Where there was an association, it was not always in the same direction and sometimes different for men and women (Slaymaker, et. al, 2004). According to Asare and Annim (2008), in both Ghana and Kenya, for both males and females sexual risk taking behaviour was higher among the youth than the other older age groups.

#### Type of residence / Region of Residence / Travel / Workplace

Various studies have measured differently, factors such as travel, type of place of residence, region of residence and occupation or place of work. In most of the studies in which these factors were associated with HIV infection, they were acting as proxy measures for potential encounter with infected sexual partner (Auvert, et. al, 2001a; Nunn, et. al, 1994; Quigley, et. al, 1997; Seed, et. al, 1995; Slaymaker, et. al, 2004). These factors are known to influence the number of sexual partners and proportion of available partners who are infected.

In some studies, in the same country, different regions may show the different sexual behaviours. This is mostly because the regions would be at different stages in the transition from unsafe to safer sexual behaviours (Kongnyuy, et. al, 2006). The urban areas, compared with rural areas, have reported more prevalent unsafe sexual behaviours. However in the Nyanza province in Kenya, unsafe sexual behaviours were more prevalent in the rural areas compared to urban areas

(Voeten, et. al, 2004). An increase in HIV prevalence in rural areas and a trend towards a decline in some cities was also noted (Hladik, et. al, 2006). This implies that different regions, like for education, might be at different stages of the HIV epidemic besides the different socio-cultural practices that influence particular sexual behaviours (Asare and Annim, 2008).

#### **MARITAL STATUS**

Married people are considered as more likely to have sex more frequently than those who are not married. Any sex outside marriage or co-resident (cohabiting) relationships is associated with a higher probability of HIV infection. This is so because these men act as a bridge between the outside world and their household environment (Kimuna and Djamba, 2005). Prevalence of HIV is generally low amongst the married or co-resident partners because sex between co-resident partners is usually considered as having a lower risk than with other partners. This however depends on how much concurrent sexual partnership occurs. There is a general variation in the proportion of married people engaged in concurrent sexual partnerships varies between countries. In countries with high prevalence of HIV, surviving spouses tend to have high HIV prevalence when compared with those still married. In some countries being currently has been associated with increased HIV infection. This is due to gaining of new sexual partner upon marriage compared with the never married (Auvert, et. al, 2001b; Slaymaker, 2004) and the increase in unprotected sexual frequency in marriage may also increase HIV infection risk (Slaymaker, 2004).

Hattori (2010) agrees with Chingandu (2007) that within Zimbabwe there is a common practice called "small house" or an extramarital affair with another woman which has seemingly replaced casual sex. This form of concurrent sexual partnership practice is also common in other African

countries often romanticized with a different name and context, like in Uganda (Parikh, 2007) and in Nigeria (Smith, 2007).

#### RELIGION

Religion imposes social control mechanism (social values) amongst its followers and thus tends to have a protective effect against risky sexual behaviours. In some countries, the traditional mechanisms of social controls have been augmented by the rise and spread of religion especially the Pentecostal and Charismatic Christian churches in Africa (Meyer 2004; Bingenheimer, 2010). The churches have continued to spread the ideology that equates personal respectability and success with behavioural adherence to a moral code that castigates and prohibits premarital sex, extramarital sex and polygamy. Notably, a combination of elders with authority in a village setting and the growing pressure of these churches create a restrictive regime with respect to sexuality (Bingenheimer, 2010). Religion has been innately engraved in cultures and the level of being religious varies from country to country and region to region (Kongnyuy, et. al, 2006).

# WEALTH AND SEXUAL BEHAVIOUR OF MEN

In Southern Africa, the more economically stable and wealthy nations like South Africa, Ivory Coast and Botswana have higher HIV prevalence rates, showing a positive association between wealth status and HIV infection levels. The scenario is however different at the individual or household level. Mixed patterns have been reported on the association between wealth status at the individual or household level and HIV infection levels. Individual or household background characteristics have been noted to be associated with risky sexual behaviours. The background

characteristics influence the epidemic yet at the same time act as protective determinant (Asare and Annim, 2008).

Asare and Annim (2008) noted increasing evidence on the association between socioeconomic status of individuals and risky sexual behaviours in sub-Saharan Africa. A plethora of broad associations has emerged in that include positive, neutral and negative relationships. To Asare and Annim (2008), wealthy men are more likely to engage in risky sexual behaviours than their poor counterparts. These wealthy men are able to do so because they tend to have wider social networks and have more disposable income. Such findings are consistent with Bingenheimer (2010) who postulated the same, by noting that men with fungible economic resources are more likely to engage in multiple concurrent partnerships when compared with poor men.

HIV prevalence in the adult population in Cameroon was reported at 55% significantly higher in wealthy people than in the poor group of the population according to the Cameroonian DHS (2004). HIV prevalence was 6.6% among the people in the richest quintile compared to 2.4% amongst the poorest quintile. Wealthier men in Cameroon were more likely to start sexual activity at an early age compared with poorer men. The wealthier men were likely to have unprotected sex with a non spousal non cohabiting partner, have multiple concurrent partners and also have multiple lifetime sexual partners (Kongnyuy, et. al, 2006). Mitsunaga, et.al (2005) reported similar results in Nigeria in which wealthy Nigerian men were more likely to engage in extramarital sex than their poorer counterparts (Kongnyuy, et. al, 2006). The association of wealth and sexual behaviour has been supported by evidence from Cameroon, Ghana, South Africa and Nigeria (Fox, 2010; Parikh, 2007; Smith, 2007; Kimuna and Djamba, 2005).

These findings however are not consistent with those of other researchers. In Zambia for example, none of the proxies of wealth (education, occupation and household wealth index) were associated with negative sexual behaviour like extramarital sex (Kimuna and Djamba, 2005). The differences in socio-cultural practices and the different stages of the HIV epidemic in different countries explain the differences (Kongnyuy, et.al, 2006).

Concepts to explain association between wealth / resources and sexual behaviours have been advanced. One perception, "Male as provider" is derived from historical literature on hunting and gathering societies and the studies of non-human primates (Hawkes, et. al, 1994). The perception here is that, the greater the man's ability to provide, the greater his chances of accessing females. The other concept "High quality male", says that males with more resources have greater access to females because females need resources to survive. High quality males out compete other males who do not have enough resources to provide for and help females (Hawkes, 1994). However these concepts have been refuted by other researchers who have argued that sexuality and risky sexual behaviours among men and women are driven by more complex drivers going beyond just the need by women for survival resources (Kimuna and Djamba, 2005).

Few studies that have examined the concept of "male as providers", "high quality males" and the related hypotheses, confirmed that men who control more resources or have a higher social capital (e.g. having a brother who can inherit one's wife and children after one's death) have been noted to have greater access to more female sex partners (Kimuna and Djamba, 2005). For Zimbabwe, quantitative studies that examined the association of wealth and sexual behaviour have been limited. This study examines the association between men's wealth and selected sexual behaviour that includes Unprotected sex in the last encounter, multiple and concurrent

sexual partnerships in the past 12 months. The investigation is premised on the concept of "high quality men" and "male as providers" (Kimuna and Djamba, 2005) who then have more access to women. Sexuality is a complex phenomenon riddled by intertwining determinants. In this research we hypothesize that wealthier men will be more likely to engage in high risk sexual behaviours than their poor counterparts.

# 2.1 CONCEPTUAL AND THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

Several models have been put forward to explain the complex risk factors that influence sexual health and HIV Risk (Robertson, 2010). A conceptual frame work is critical in guiding the collection, analysis and interpretation of data. The framework must explain the hierarchical and non hierarchical associations between different variables (Boerma and Weir, 2005).

In this study, the conceptual framework (Fig 1) was adopted and adapted from the Robertson et al. (2010) framework. This model, illustrated in Fig 1, however, was derived from Boerma and Weir (2005)'s model who developed the proximate determinants framework which integrates epidemiological and demographic approaches in explaining the distribution and determinants of HIV infection.

# Fig 1: Determinants of sexual behaviour

#### UNDERLYING DETERMINANTS

PROXIMATE DETERMINANTS

#### COUNTRY/REGIONAL

## **LEVEL**

#### Socio-cultural factors

Gender and sexism Race/Ethnicity and racism Religion

Traditional family structure e.g.

Polygamy

Patrilineal/Matrilineal

societies

Orphan inheritance practices

Illiteracy/Education levels Prevalence of drug use (including

alcohol)

Prevalence of sex work HIV – knowledge and

attitudes

# HIV interventions

VCT
PMTCT
STI control
Condom promotion
Safe
injections/medical
procedures

Blood safety Education and media campaigns Availability of treatment

#### Infrastructure/urbanisation

Access to services (health, Education, welfare) Transportation Communication and media

## Political factors

War and
militarisation
Law enforcement
(drugs and
prostitution)
Policy and spending
(Health, education
and welfare)

#### **Economic factors**

GDP

Employment Wealth distribution

#### **Demographic**

factors

Fertility Migration Mortality

Male: female ratio

# SEXUAL BEHAVIOURS

Concurrent sexual partnerships

Multiple concurrent sexual partnerships

Unprotected sexual encounter

# ][

# **HOUSEHOLD LEVEL**

## HIV and other

health Illness

services

Death
Knowledge and
attitudes
Access to health

#### Socio-economic factors

# Wealth (income and assets)

Religion/Ethnicity Education level Occupation of main breadwinner Social status

#### Household structure

Child/Elderly
headed
Female/Male
headed
Polygamy
Number of
children
Number of adults

# INDIVIDUAL LEVEL

Psychosocial distress Age Gender Religion

Marital Status Education Wealth (income/ assets)

Social Capital Occupation Migration / Mobility

Ever had an HIV test HIV Knowledge and attitudes Alcohol / Drug use Stigma and discrimination

Their model was based on the proximate determinants framework used in demographic analysis of the determinants of fertility and child survival. This model was actually informed by a number of other conceptual frameworks that included the Bongaart's proximate determinants model (1978), Mosley and Chen's conceptual framework for child survival, Mosley and Becker's analytical framework based on the Mosley-Chen framework (Robertson, et. al, 2010).

A brief review of the models that inform this study's conceptual framework shows that, Bongaart developed a simple statistical model in which any variation in the level of fertility, between populations or over time, can be decomposed which is known as Bongaart's (1978) proximate determinants model. The variation in fertility can be decomposed into variations in the proximate determinants of marriage (exposure to sexual intercourse), postpartum infecundity (associated with lactation and abstinence), induced abortion, and contraceptive use (Boerma and Weir, 2005).

Mosley and Chen (2003) used the proximate-determinants framework for fertility as a basis, to develop a conceptual framework for research on child survival. They used the framework to also facilitate and promote interdisciplinary communication and to provide a theoretical foundation for further investigation. The basic component of the Mosley-Chen framework is the specification of a set of proximate determinants through which all socioeconomic determinants must operate in order to influence the risk of morbidity and mortality among children (Boerma and Weir, 2005). They postulated that the underlying determinants of mortality and morbidity

exist at three levels that is the individual level, the household level and the community level. This framework was adapted and tested using data from Zimbabwe (Watts, et. al, 2007; Boerma and Weir, 2005; Robertson, et. al, 2010).

The social epidemiological framework was also developed using the eco-social approach by Poundstone, et. al. (2004). In this social epidemiological framework, the factors at multiple levels, that is, from the microscopic to societal level were considered as influencing the distribution of HIV in society.

As mentioned earlier, Robsertson, et. al, (2010) also derived their own conceptual framework from Boerma and Weir (2005) by expanding the model to show clearly the country/ regional, household and individual level, underlying determinants of HIV. Sexual behaviours in the study are considered as the proximate determinants of HIV infection besides the biological factors. The levels of the proximate determinants conceptual framework for the determinants of sexual behaviour leading to HIV infection or other negative sexual health outcomes in this study are shown in Fig 1. The framework shows the linkages between the social and environmental system on the left with the behavioural systems on the right. In this framework, the sociocultural and economic determinants and program characteristics operate through the proximate determinants. These proximate determinants have direct links to the biological determinants, which affect the HIV incidence rate, HIV prevalence, and lead to disease and premature death. The proximate determinants have both behavioural and biological components. However, the biological factors were excluded for the purposes of this study. It is

critical to note that the emphasis of the conceptual framework is best understood as illustrating the sequence at the population level. This sequence starts from the underlying social, economic, and environmental factors at country or regional, household and individual level and eventually leads to exposure, transmission, infection, disease, and premature death (Boerma and Weir, 2005).

The conceptualization of pathways through which underlying socio-cultural and economic determinants, including interventions, may affect infection depends on the distinction between underlying and proximate determinants. This conceptual framework, however, is much closer to the Bongaart's (2003) fertility conceptual framework than to the Mosley and Chen conceptual framework for child survival (Boerma and Weir, 2005).

It is critical to note that this conceptual framework by Boerma and Weir (2005) has facilitated hypothesis generation relating to causal pathways between risk factors and HIV infection. The framework was tested using data from adults in Zimbabwe (Lewis, et. al, 2007; Lopman, et. al, 2008; Robertson, et. al, 2010). The theoretical framework in this study (Fig 1) was used to develop specific hypotheses regarding the relationship between socioeconomic determinant (wealth) and sexual behaviour and HIV infection. We expect wealth men in Zimbabwe to be more likely to engage in risky sex behaviours such as unprotected sex, engage in multiple and concurrent sexual partnerships (Kimuna and Djamba, 2005; Kongnyuy et.al, 2006; Asare and Annim, 2008)

# **CHAPTER 3**

# **METHODS**

# 3.1 STUDY DESIGN

This is a cross sectional study involving analysis of secondary data from the 2005/6 Zimbabwe Demographic and Health Survey (ZDHS).

## 3.2.1 THE ZIMBABWE 2005/06 DEMOGRAPHIC AND HEALTH SURVEY SAMPLING

A series of surveys are undertaken by the Central Statistics Office (CSO) as a part of the Zimbabwe National Household Survey Capability Program (ZNHSCP) and the worldwide Measure DHS Program. The 2005/6 ZDHS is one of these series of surveys. This survey was funded by the Government of Zimbabwe in collaboration with the United State Agency for International Development (USAID) and the US Presidents Emergency Plans for Aids Relief (PEPFAR) and many other international funders (ZDHS, 2005/6).

Zimbabwe was stratified according to its 10 Provinces namely Harare, Bulawayo, Masvingo, Manicaland, Mashonaland Central, Mashonaland East, Mashonaland West, Matabeleland North, Matabeleland South and Midlands. The 2002 Zimbabwe Master Sample (ZMS02) developed after the 2002 population census by the Central Statistics Office was used as the sampling frame. All the provinces were divided into four strata according to the land use (commercial, large-scale commercial farming, urban and semi-urban areas and resettlement areas) except for Bulawayo and Harare. Urban strata were formed for Harare and Bulawayo only. A total of 34 strata were established with 1,200 enumeration areas selected with the

probability proportional to the size (PSS), the size being the number of households enumerated in the 2002 census. A systematic, one stage operation was carried out independently for each of the 34 strata in the selection of enumeration area. In total, 10,800 households were selected (ZDHS, 2005/6).

# 3.2.2 Study Population and Sample Size

For the current study, data were obtained for 7,175 sexually active men aged 15-54 years who participated in the HIV/AIDS-Related Knowledge, Attitudes and Behaviour Module of the ZDHS questionnaire survey. The Zimbabwean population amounted to 11.6 million according to the 2002 Census report. No matching was required for the participants.

#### 3.2.3 QUESTIONNAIRE DESIGN

Three separate questionnaires were used in the ZDHS namely the household, women and men's questionnaire. These questionnaires were adapted from the DHS Model questionnaire. This DHS Model questionnaire is made up of two models that reflect the population and health issues relevant to a country. These questionnaires however were in three languages namely English, Shona and Ndebele (ZDHS, 2005/6). The Men's Questionnaire however collected much of the same information that was collected by the Women's Questionnaire but was shorter as it excluded the detailed reproductive history or questions on maternal and child health or nutrition (ZDHS, 2005/6).

# 3.3 VARIABLE DEFINITIONS

# 3.3.1 DEPENDENT VARIABLES

The dependent variable in this study is unsafe sexual behaviour. For the purposes of this study, the sexual behaviour of men referred to is the high risk sexual behaviour of men. It is defined as any behaviour by men that enhance the chance of negative consequences associated with sexual contact that includes HIV and AIDS or other sexually transmitted infections (STIs) and unplanned pregnancy. These behaviours however are considered in two broad categories namely (i) indiscriminate behaviours and (ii) failure to take protective actions. The indiscriminate behaviours include, having multiple and concurrent sexual partnerships; having risky, casual or unknown partners; and failure to discuss risk topics prior to sexual encounter. The failure to take protective actions category of sexual behaviours includes the use of condoms for protection and for birth control. For the purposes of this study the sexual behaviours were limited to:

# CONCURRENT SEXUAL RELATIONSHIPS IN THE LAST 12 MONTHS

Concurrent sexual partnerships are defined as "overlapping sexual partnerships in which sexual intercourse with one partner occurs between two acts of intercourse with another partner" (Lancet, 2009). This definition makes explicit the importance of sex with two different partners in temporally overlapping partnerships. This sexual behaviour was measured in the 2005/6 ZDHS by the question: "In total (apart from this person/ these two people) with how many different people have you had sexual intercourse?"

This was collapsed into two categories of the same variable:

- (i) Own wife which was coded (0)
- (ii) One non spousal partner which was coded (1)

**Table 3.1 Definition of dependent variables** 

Table 3.1 Definition of dependent variables		
Variable	Category	
Concurrent sexual partnerships	-Greater or equal to two female non spousal partner which was coded (Yes) -Less than two female sexual partners was coded (No)	
Multiple concurrent sexual partnerships	-Greater or equal to two female non spousal partner (Yes) -Less than two female sexual partners (No)	
Unprotected sex	-Did not use condom in the last sexual encounter (Yes) -Used condom in the last sexual encounter (No)	

## MULTIPLE CONCURRENT SEXUAL PARTNERSHIPS IN THE LAST 12 MONTHS

Multiple concurrent sexual partnerships are defined as overlapping sexual partnerships in which sexual intercourse with more than one partner occurs between two acts of intercourse with more than one other partner. Multiple concurrent sexual partnerships refer to the whether or not one had more than two sexual partners in the past year. This indicator is

intended to distinguish between the risks of concurrent sexual partnerships from that of having multiple sexual partnerships, a well-established risk factor for HIV transmission in several settings. This sexual behaviour was measured in the 2005/6 ZDHS by the question: "In total (apart from this person/ these two people) with how many different people have you had sexual intercourse?"

This was collapsed into two categories of the same variable:

- (i) Less than two female sexual partners was coded (0)
- (ii) Greater or equal to two female non spousal partner which was coded (1)

UNPROTECTED SEX IN THE LAST ENCOUNTER

Unprotected sex is having sex without using condoms for protection from STIs or prevention of pregnancy.

This sexual behaviour was measured in the 2005/6 ZDHS by the question: "The last time you had sexual intercourse (with this second or third person) was condom used?

This was collapsed into two categories of the same variable:

- (i) Did not use condom in the last sexual encounter: (Yes) which was coded (1)
- (ii) Used condom in the last sexual encounter: (No) which was coded (0)

### 3.3.2 INDEPENDENT VARIABLES

The background characteristics in Table 3.2 include all variables that provide a better sociodemographic background of the men who participated in the HIV/AIDS-Related Knowledge, Attitudes, and Behaviour module.

#### WEALTH

For the purposes of this study wealth index was used to measure the household wealth. It is one of the background characteristics used in this research. The wealth index was developed and tested in many countries basing on inequalities in household income, use of health services, and health outcomes. It is an index of wealth that is consistent with expenditure and income measures (Rutstein, et. al, 2000). The wealth index was constructed using household asset data including ownership of a number of consumer items ranging from a television to a bicycle or car, as well as dwelling characteristics, such as a source of drinking water, sanitation facilities, and type of flooring material. Each asset was then assigned a weight or factor score generated through Principal Components Analysis. Each household was then assigned a score for each asset, and the scores summed for each household as individuals were ranked according to the score of the household in which they resided (ZDHS, 2006).

For the purpose of this research, this score was divided into three equal classes of wealth based percentiles. Those falling below 33.33<sup>rd</sup> percentile constituted the low end, which is the most poor. Those falling within 33.33 to 66.67<sup>th</sup> percentile constituted the middle level of wealth and those above 66.67<sup>th</sup> percentile were labelled the rich.

#### OTHER INDEPENDENT VARIABLES

All the other independent variables, educational level, age, marital status, place of residence, region and religion's measurement indicator and recodes are summarized in the Table 3.2.

It is important to note that religion shapes the culture of individuals, influencing their attitudes, norms and values and thus has a bearing on the behaviour of individuals, community or society. For this study, "Religion" has seven categories. The Roman Catholic faith is by far the predominant religion in Zimbabwe with an approximate 1,110,000 Zimbabweans being of this faith (International Religious Freedom Report, 2005). The Apostolic sector was singled out as a group of interest because of its polygamous marriages rooted in religion whilst the Muslim faith is also of interest because of its difference in perspective with Christianity and other religions. The other faiths, as well as respondents who answered that they belonged to other religious affiliation formed the "Traditional" category.

**TABLE 3.2: DEFINITION OF INDEPENDENT VARIABLES** 

Variables	Definitions
Socioeconomic	
Wealth	Poor households (Ref) *
	Middle wealth households
	Wealthy households
Highest Education Level	Primary education (Ref) * Secondary
	education Higher education
Type/ Place of Residence	Rural (Ref) *
	Urban
Demographic	
Age	15-24 age group (Ref) * 25-34 age group
	34-44 age group 45+ age group
Marital status	Never married (Ref) Married /Living
	together Divorced/ not living
	together/widowed
Region of residence	Harare (Ref) *
	Bulawayo
	Manicaland
	(Mashonaland East
	Mashonaland West
	Mashonaland Central
	Masvingo
	Matabeleland North
	Matebeleland South
	Midlands
Religion	None (Ref)*
	Roman Catholic
	Protestant / Pentecostal
	Apostolic sect
	Other Christian
	Traditional

Reference category

# **3.4 HYPOTHESES**

H<sub>0</sub>: There is no association between wealth and sexual behaviour of men in Zimbabwe.

H<sub>1</sub>: There is an association between wealth and sexual behaviour of men in Zimbabwe.

### 3.5 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

The Zimbabwe Demographic and Health survey was approved by the National Ethics committee of the Medical Research Council of Zimbabwe. All the study participants gave informed consent before participating in the survey and confidentiality was ensured in data collection (ZDHS, 2005/6). The study under current consideration involves secondary analysis of pre-existing data and so no personal information or names of the respondents were disclosed in the dataset, thus anonymity was guaranteed.

### 3.6 Data Management

The 2005 – 2006 ZDHS data in SPSS format were downloaded from the Demographic and Health Survey website. SPSS Version 16 was used for analysis. From the set of downloaded data from the HIV/AIDS-Related Knowledge, Attitudes, and Behaviour module data set, variables considered to be relevant to this study were identified and extracted into one data set. There were a total of 7,175 cases in the HIV/AIDS-Related Knowledge, Attitudes, and Behaviour module. However, for some of the variables, there were missing cases. In some instances, this was attributable to the respondents stating that they were unsure of how to respond or they omitted the question completely. However, the majority of the questions, over 95%, were complete. To adjust for differences in probability of selection and also to adjust for the non response in order to have a representative sample, all cases in the 2005/6 ZDHS data were given weights.

The weight is determined such that it is inversely proportional to the response rate as well as the probability of selection. The use of weights therefore corrects for the differential response rates and the unequal subjects in the sample. In the Zimbabwe DHS Standard Recode files, the household sample weight variable was extracted as HV005 and the individual weight variable was V005. The eight-digit count of variable with six implied decimal places was then divided by 1,000,000 before applying it using SPSS version 16.

#### 3.7 DATA ANALYSIS

The variables used in this study were analyzed in three stages: univariate, bivariate and multivariate analysis. The significance tests were two tailed and the statistical significance was defined at the alpha level of 0.05.

#### 3.7.1 Univariate analysis

This is done to profile the respondents by summarising the demographic and socioeconomic variables.

#### 3.7.2 BIVARIATE ANALYSIS

This is done to examine the association between the independent socioeconomic, demographic, and the dependent variables of whether wealth influences sexual behaviour of men. In order to examine such an association, the unadjusted odds ratios were computed to explain the likelihood of negative sexual behaviour outcomes occurring. The selected sexual behaviour outcome variables included the following:

• Concurrent sexual relationships in the last 12 months- having sex with one woman other than the wife (non spousal partner) in the last 12 months preceding the survey.

- Multiple concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months- having had greater than or equal to two female sexual partners other than the wife (non spousal partner) in the last 12 months preceding the survey
- Unprotected sex in the last encounter- used condom in the last encounter with non spousal partner".

#### 3.7.4 MULTIPLE LOGISTIC REGRESSION ANALYSIS

In the final stage of the analysis, a logistic regression analysis was carried out. The logistic regression model was chosen in order to overcome the problems associated with linear probability models because it provides a relative estimation based on probabilities (Pindyck and Rubinfeld, 1991). This was also used in this study because the outcome variables are dichotomous or binary. For this stage the negative sexual behaviour outcomes were the outcome variable. Thus if the respondent recorded concurrent sexual partnerships, multiple concurrent sexual partnerships and unprotected sex they were coded as "0" and the positive sexual behaviours coded as "1". The purpose of such coding ensured that only the negative values could be used in the model. The logistic regression was also used for each of the independent variables that were significant by each binary, dependent variable. In the first model wealth index, age and level of education variables were introduced into the model as the independent variables. Finally in the second model more variables were added that included that included marital status, place of residence, region of residence and then religious affiliation because these characteristics are known to influence sexual behaviour (Asare and Annim, 2008). The basic logistic regression equation used was:

Lin 
$$(\frac{P_i}{1-P_i}) = \alpha + \beta_1 X_{1i} + \beta_2 X_{2i} + ... + \beta_k X_{ki} + e_{i,}$$

where: In  $(\frac{P_i}{1-P_i})$  = is the logit of the odds of being wealthy

X<sub>i</sub> = independent variables

 $\beta_k$  = is a vector of parameter estimates representing the effects on the log odds of the vector of independent variable  $x_i$ . It is a regression coefficient. The log odds are not easily understood and so they can be exponentiated to provide the odds of being wealthy by the following formula:

$$\frac{P_i}{1 - P_i} = e^{\alpha + \beta + e}$$

Where

 $\alpha_i$  = average log odds (means) when all  $x_i$  are set to zero. It is the error or unexplained part of the regression. It is a constant.

The logistic regression equation takes the form:

**Sexual behaviour** = Wealth + Sex + Age + Marital status + Education+ Place of residence + Region of Residence + Religion

Where Sexual behaviour can take any one of the following sexual behaviours at a time:

- Concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months
- Multiple concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months
- Unprotected sex

In this section of the study, the strength of associations between the respondent's background and wealth characteristics with sexual behaviour outcomes was considered. This improves the understanding of the key variables or characteristics that are significantly associated within the logistic regression model provided. In the first model wealth index, age and level of education variables were introduced into the model as the independent variables. In the second model more variables were added that included that included marital status, place of residence, region of residence and then religious affiliation because these characteristics are known to influence sexual behaviour (Asare and Annim, 2008).

# **CHAPTER 4**

# 4.0 RESULTS

Introduction

This chapter begins by presenting results of the characteristics of the survey respondents. This is followed by a presentation of the results of the association between the dependent variable-selected sexual behaviour and the independent variables including wealth, sex, age, marital status, educational level, religion, type or place of residence and region of residence. The sexual behaviours included concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months, multiple concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months and unprotected sex in the last encounter.

### **4.1 CHARACTERISTICS OF THE RESPONDENTS**

### **4.1.2 Socio-demographic Characteristics of the respondents**

This section of the study focused on the univariate analysis of the 2005/6 ZDHS data. The analysis generated the following results shown in table 4.1.

Table 4.1.2: Weighted percentage distribution of Zimbabwean men, by selected social and demographic characteristics, Zimbabwe Demographic and Health Survey, 2005/6

Household Wealth   Poor household   2292   31.9   Middle household wealth   1235   17.2   Wealthy household   3649   50.9   Total   71.75*   100	Characteristics	Frequency	Percent	
Poor household         2292         31.9           Middle household wealth         1235         17.2           Wealthy household         3649         50.9           Total         7175*         100           Highest Education Level           Primary / No education         2067         28.8           Secondary education         4687         65.3           Higher education         4222         5.9           Total         7175*         100           Age         15-24 years         3358         46.8           25-34 years         1963         27.4           35-44 years         1132         15.8           >45 years         721         10.1           Total         7175*         100           Marital Status           Never Married         3406         47.5           Married / Living together         3419         47.7           Divorced / Widowed / Separated         7175         100           Type of place of residence           Urban         2904         40.5           Rural         4271         59.5           Total         7175         100 <td colspa<="" td=""><td>Household Wealth</td><td></td><td></td></td>	<td>Household Wealth</td> <td></td> <td></td>	Household Wealth		
Middle household wealth       1235       17.2         Wealthy household       3649       50.9         Total       7175*       100         Highest Education Level         Primary / No education       2067       28.8         Secondary education       4687       65.3         Higher education       422       5.9         Total       7175*       100         Age         15-24 years       3358       46.8         25-34 years       1963       27.4         35-44 years       1132       15.8         45 years       721       10.1         Total       7175*       100         Marital Status         Never Married       3406       47.5         Married / Living together       3419       47.7         Divorced / Widowed / Separated       350       4.9         Total       7175       100         Type of place of residence         Urban       2904       40.5         Rural       4271       59.5         Total       7175       100         Region         Manicaland       829		2292	31.9	
Wealthy household       3649       50.9         Total       7175*       100         Highest Education Level         Primary / No education       2067       28.8         Secondary education       4687       65.3         Higher education       4222       5.9         Total       7175*       100         Age         15-24 years       3358       46.8         25-34 years       1963       27.4         35-44 years       1132       15.8         >45 years       721       10.1         Total       7175*       100         Marital Status         Never Married       3406       47.5         Married / Living together       3419       47.7         Divorced / Widowed / Separated       350       4.9         Total       7175       100         Type of place of residence         Urban       2904       40.5         Rural       4271       59.5         Total       7175       100         Region         Manicaland       829       11.6         Mashonaland Central       702				
Total         7175*         100           Highest Education Level         2067         28.8           Primary / No education         4687         65.3           Higher education         422         5.9           Total         7175*         100           Age         422         5.9           15-24 years         3358         46.8           25-34 years         1963         27.4           35-44 years         1132         15.8           >45 years         721         10.1           Total         7175*         100           Married Status         Never Married         3406         47.5           Married / Living together         3419         47.7           Divorced / Widowed / Separated         350         4.9           Total         7175         100           Type of place of residence         2904         40.5           Urban         4271         59.5           Total         7175         100           Region         8         8           Manicaland         829         11.6           Mashonaland Central         702         9.8           Mashonaland East         598				
Highest Education Level         Primary / No education       2067       28.8         Secondary education       4687       65.3         Higher education       422       5.9         Total       7175*       100         Age	-			
Primary / No education       2067       28.8         Secondary education       4687       65.3         Higher education       422       5.9         Total       7175*       100         Age       15-24 years       3358       46.8         25-34 years       1963       27.4         35-44 years       1132       15.8         >45 years       721       10.1         Total       7175*       100         Marital Status         Never Married       3406       47.5         Married / Living together       3419       47.7         Divorced / Widowed / Separated       350       4.9         Total       7175       100         Type of place of residence         Urban       2904       40.5         Rural       4271       59.5         Total       7175       100         Region         Manicaland       829       11.6         Mashonaland Central       702       9.8         Mashonaland East       598       8.3				
Primary   No education   4687   65.3     Higher education   422   5.9     Total   7175*   100     Age	Highest Education Level			
Secondary education       4687       65.3         Higher education       422       5.9         Total       7175*       100         Age         15-24 years       3358       46.8         25-34 years       1963       27.4         35-44 years       1132       15.8         >45 years       721       10.1         Total       7175*       100         Marital Status         Never Married       3406       47.5         Married / Living together       3419       47.7         Divorced / Widowed / Separated       350       4.9         Total       7175       100         Type of place of residence         Urban       2904       40.5         Rural       4271       59.5         Total       7175       100         Region         Manicaland       829       11.6         Mashonaland Central       702       9.8         Mashonaland East       598       8.3	Primary / No adjugation	2067	28.8	
Higher education       422       5.9         Total       7175*       100         Age       15-24 years       3358       46.8         25-34 years       1963       27.4         35-44 years       1132       15.8         >45 years       721       10.1         Total       7175*       100         Marital Status         Never Married       3406       47.5         Married / Living together       3419       47.7         Divorced / Widowed / Separated       350       4.9         Total       7175       100         Type of place of residence         Urban       2904       40.5         Rural       4271       59.5         Total       7175       100         Region         Manicaland       829       11.6         Mashonaland Central       702       9.8         Mashonaland East       598       8.3		4687	65.3	
Total       7175*       100         Age       15-24 years       3358       46.8         25-34 years       1963       27.4         35-44 years       1132       15.8         >45 years       721       10.1         Total       7175*       100         Marital Status         Never Married       3406       47.5         Married / Living together       3419       47.7         Divorced / Widowed / Separated       350       4.9         Total       7175       100         Type of place of residence         Urban       2904       40.5         Rural       4271       59.5         Total       7175       100         Region         Manicaland       829       11.6         Mashonaland Central       702       9.8         Mashonaland East       598       8.3				
Age       15-24 years       3358       46.8         25-34 years       1963       27.4         35-44 years       1132       15.8         >45 years       721       10.1         Total       7175*       100         Marital Status         Never Married       3406       47.5         Married / Living together       3419       47.7         Divorced / Widowed / Separated       350       4.9         Total       7175       100         Type of place of residence         Urban       2904       40.5         Rural       4271       59.5         Total       7175       100         Region         Manicaland       829       11.6         Mashonaland Central       702       9.8         Mashonaland East       598       8.3	-			
15-24 years       3358       46.8         25-34 years       1963       27.4         35-44 years       1132       15.8         >45 years       721       10.1         Total       7175*       100         Marital Status         Never Married       3406       47.5         Married / Living together       3419       47.7         Divorced / Widowed / Separated       350       4.9         Total       7175       100         Type of place of residence         Urban       2904       40.5         Rural       4271       59.5         Total       7175       100         Region         Manicaland       829       11.6         Mashonaland Central       702       9.8         Mashonaland East       598       8.3	Total	7170	100	
1963   27.4	Age			
35-44 years   1132   15.8	15-24 years	3358	46.8	
35-44 years       1132       15.8         >45 years       721       10.1         Total       7175*       100         Marital Status         Never Married       3406       47.5         Married / Living together       3419       47.7         Divorced / Widowed / Separated       7175       100         Type of place of residence         Urban       2904       40.5         Rural       4271       59.5         Total       7175       100         Region         Manicaland       829       11.6         Mashonaland Central       702       9.8         Mashonaland East       598       8.3	25-34 vears	1963	27.4	
>45 years       721       10.1         Total       7175*       100         Marital Status       Never Married       3406       47.5         Married / Living together       3419       47.7         Divorced / Widowed / Separated       350       4.9         Total       7175       100         Type of place of residence         Urban       2904       40.5         Rural       4271       59.5         Total       7175       100         Region         Manicaland       829       11.6         Mashonaland Central       702       9.8         Mashonaland East       598       8.3	-	1132	15.8	
Total         7175*         100           Marital Status         Never Married         3406         47.5           Married / Living together         3419         47.7           Divorced / Widowed / Separated         7175         100           Type of place of residence         Urban         2904         40.5           Rural         4271         59.5           Total         7175         100           Region         Manicaland         829         11.6           Mashonaland Central         702         9.8           Mashonaland East         598         8.3	-	721	10.1	
Never Married       3406       47.5         Married / Living together       3419       47.7         Divorced / Widowed / Separated       350       4.9         Total       7175       100         Type of place of residence         Urban       2904       40.5         Rural       4271       59.5         Total       7175       100         Region         Manicaland       829       11.6         Mashonaland Central       702       9.8         Mashonaland East       598       8.3		7175*	100	
Never Married       3406       47.5         Married / Living together       3419       47.7         Divorced / Widowed / Separated       350       4.9         Total       7175       100         Type of place of residence         Urban       2904       40.5         Rural       4271       59.5         Total       7175       100         Region         Manicaland       829       11.6         Mashonaland Central       702       9.8         Mashonaland East       598       8.3				
Married / Living together       3419       47.7         Divorced / Widowed / Separated       350       4.9         Total       7175       100         Type of place of residence         Urban       2904       40.5         Rural       4271       59.5         Total       7175       100         Region         Manicaland       829       11.6         Mashonaland Central       702       9.8         Mashonaland East       598       8.3				
Divorced / Widowed / Separated   350   4.9	Never Married	3406	47.5	
Total         7175         100           Type of place of residence         2904         40.5           Rural         4271         59.5           Total         7175         100           Region         829         11.6           Mashonaland Central         702         9.8           Mashonaland East         598         8.3	Married / Living together	3419	47.7	
Total         7175         100           Type of place of residence           Urban         2904         40.5           Rural         4271         59.5           Total         7175         100           Region         829         11.6           Mashonaland Central         702         9.8           Mashonaland East         598         8.3	Divorced / Widowed / Separated	350	4.9	
Urban       2904       40.5         Rural       4271       59.5         Total       7175       100         Region       829       11.6         Mashonaland Central       702       9.8         Mashonaland East       598       8.3	•	7175	100	
Urban       2904       40.5         Rural       4271       59.5         Total       7175       100         Region       829       11.6         Mashonaland Central       702       9.8         Mashonaland East       598       8.3				
Rural       4271       59.5         Total       7175       100         Region       829       11.6         Mashonaland Central       702       9.8         Mashonaland East       598       8.3	Type of place of residence			
Total         7175         100           Region         829         11.6           Mashonaland Central         702         9.8           Mashonaland East         598         8.3	Urban	2904	40.5	
Region         829         11.6           Manicaland Central         702         9.8           Mashonaland East         598         8.3	Rural	4271	59.5	
Manical and82911.6Mashonal and Central7029.8Mashonal and East5988.3	Total	7175	100	
Manical and82911.6Mashonal and Central7029.8Mashonal and East5988.3	Pegion			
Mashonaland Central7029.8Mashonaland East5988.3	-	820	11 6	
Mashonaland East 598 8.3				
	Mashonaland West	726	10.1	

Matebeleland North	434	6.1
Matebeleland South	325	4.5
Midlands	1003	14
Masvingo	800	11.1
Harare	1274	17.8
Bulawayo	483	6.7
Total	7175	100
Religion		
Traditional	535	7.5
Roman Catholic	749	10.6
Protestant / Pentecostal	2151	30.4
Apostolic Sect	1605	22.6
Other Christian	255	3.6
None	1792	25.3
Total	7087**	100

<sup>\*</sup>The weighted frequencies are approximately the same as the unweighted frequencies. The difference in the sum is possibly due to rounding errors.

As shown in Table 4.1.2, men from a wealthy household constituted 50.9% of the men with 31.9% making up those men from the poor households. The men from middle wealth households constituted 17.2% of the survey respondents. In terms of levels of education of the male participants, 65.3% had secondary education followed by 28.8% who had primary education and 5.9% had had higher education. The 15-24 years age group made up the largest group amongst the men who participated in the study. They made up 46.8% of the survey respondents and the 25-34 years age group making up 27.4%, 35-44 years age group making up 15.8% and the 45+ age group made up 10.1% of the sample.

From the study, it was noted that 47.5% of the respondents had never been married whilst 47.7% were married or living together with partner/wife with 4.9% of the men divorced,

<sup>\*\*</sup> Total does not add up to 7175 because of missing data

separated or widowed. It was noted in this study that 59.5% of those interviewed were from rural areas whilst 40.5% were from urban areas. Harare had the highest percentage of participants in the study making up 17.8% with Matabeleland having the least percentage of 4.5% and Bulawayo with a low percentage of 6.7%. The other regions had relatively high percentages such as Manicaland 11.6%, Masvingo 11.1% and Mashonaland West 10.1%.

The Protestant and Pentecostal religions made up the largest group amongst the study participants at 30.4% followed by the None religious group making up 25.3 % of the respondents. The Apostolic Sect were reported as constituting 22.6% of the respondents and the least were the Other Christian groups making up 3.6% and 7.5% for those who believed in the Traditional religion. The Roman Catholics made up 10.6% of the respondents. The Muslim group constituted a minute percentage in the survey and thus discarded for analysis as missing.

### 4.1.3 SEXUAL BEHAVIOUR CHARACTERISTICS OF THE RESPONDENTS

From table 4.1.3, 56% of the men that participated in the study had engaged in concurrent sexual partnerships in the 12 months preceding the survey. Missing data were reported at 0.1% as people elect to omit sexual information in questionnaires in general. It is noted that 8.9% of the man that participated in the survey had engaged in multiple concurrent sexual partnerships in the 12 months preceding the survey. Again missing data was reported at 0.1% for the same reason mentioned above, that of people electing to omit sexual information in questionnaires in general. Of the men that participated in the study only 8.9% elected to give response to engagement in unprotected sex in the last encounter and of this group 3.1% reported engaging

in unprotected sex. However the weighted valid percentage of men that engaged in unprotected sex was 35.1%.

Table 4.1.3: Weighted percentage distribution of Zimbabwean men, by selected sexual behaviour characteristics, Zimbabwe Demographic and Health Survey, 2005/6

Characteristics	Category	Frequency	Percent
	Yes	4026	56.2
Concurrent Sexual partnership in the last 12	No	3139	43.8
months	Sub-Total	7165*	100
Multiple Consurrent Several Portnerships in the	Yes	637	8.9
Multiple Concurrent Sexual Partnerships in the last 12 months	No	6528	91.1
last 12 months	Sub-Total	7165*	100
	Yes	225	35.1
Unprotected sex in the last encounter	No	416	64.9
3. p. 3. 3. 3. 3. 3. 3. 3. 3. 3. 3. 3. 3. 3.	Total	7175	

<sup>\*</sup>Missing data, so totals do not add up to 7175, valid percentages considered

### 4.1.4 CROSSTABULATION OF SEXUAL BEHAVIOURS AND WEALTH STATUS

### 4.2.1 Concurrent Sexual partnership and Household Wealth Crosstabulation

From table 4.2.1.1, among the men from poor households 57.9% reported having concurrent sexual partnership whilst 42.1% reported not having had concurrent sexual partnerships 12 months preceding the survey.

**Table 4.2.1.1 Concurrent Sexual partnership and Household Wealth Crosstabulation** 

			Н	lousehold Wealtl	h	
			Poor household	Middle household wealth	Wealthy household	Total
Concurrent Sexual	Yes	Count	1326	599	2101	4026
partnership		% within Household Wealth	57.9%	48.5%	57.7%	56.2%
	No	Count	964	635	1539	3138
		% within Household Wealth	42.1%	51.5%	42.3%	43.8%
Total		Count	2290	1234	3640	7164
		% within Household Wealth	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%

a. Number of valid cases is different from the total count in the crosstabulation table because the cell counts have been rounded and there are missing cases.

A similar pattern is noted amongst men from wealth households, 57.7% from the wealth households reported having had concurrent sexual partnerships unlike 42.3% from the same group who reported not having had concurrent sexual partnerships in the past 12 months before the survey in Table 4.2.1.1. There seems to be no difference in terms of engagement or non engagement in concurrent sexual partnerships between men sexual behaviour of concurrent sexual partnerships between the men from poor household and those from wealthy households. However it is noted that men from wealth households are 9.2% (57.7% - 48.5%) more likely to engage in concurrent sexual partnerships compared with men from middle wealth household. Compared with men from poor households it is noted that the men from the

middle wealth household are also 9.4% likely not to engage in concurrent sexual partnerships compared with those men from poor households.

There seem to be some differences especially among the men from poor households and wealthy households.

Table 4.2.1.2 Chi- Square Tests for association between household wealth and concurrent sexual partnerships

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	35.520 <sup>a</sup>	2	.000
N of Valid Cases	7164		

a. 0 cells (.0%) have expected count less than 5. The minimum expected count is 540.52.

From table 4.2.1.2 above, the observed Chi- Square statistic is 35.520 which is associated with a p-value <0.05 and so we reject the null hypothesis, and conclude that there is association between men's household wealth and engagement in concurrent sexual partnerships

Table 4.2.1.3 Measurement of strength of association between household wealth and concurrent sexual partnerships

	Value	Approx. Sig.
Nominal by Nominal Cramer's V	.070	.000
N of Valid Cases	7164	

The Cramer's V coefficient in table 4.2.1.3 which measures the strength of the association was noted as 0.070 and the result is statistically significant with a p-value <0.05. There is little if any association between concurrent sexual partnerships and household wealth.

Table 4.3.1.1 Multiple Concurrent sexual partnerships and Household wealth crosstabulations

			Household Wealth		า	
			Poor household	Middle household wealth	Wealthy household	Total
Multiple Concurrent Sexual	Yes	Count	213	105	319	637
Partnerships		% within Household Wealth	9.3%	8.5%	8.8%	8.9%
	No	Count	2078	1129	3321	6528
		% within Household Wealth	90.7%	91.5%	91.2%	91.1%
Total		Count	2291	1234	3640	7165
		% within Household Wealth	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%

From table 4.3.1.1, men from poor households, middle household wealth and wealthy households reported low percentages, 9.3%, 8.5% and 8.8% respectively in terms of engagement in multiple concurrent sexual partnerships. From these observations there seem to be differences but they are rather small and probably not enough to constitute a clear dependent association between household wealth and multiple concurrent sexual partnerships.

**From the table 4.3.1.2**, we observed a very low Chi- Square statistic of 0.762 which is associated with a p-value >0.05 and so we cannot reject the null hypothesis. We therefore find

no support for the research hypothesis and can conclude that there is no association between multiple concurrent sexual partnerships and men's household wealth.

Table 4.3.1.2 Chi- Square Tests for association between men's multiple concurrent sexual partnerships and household wealth

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	.762 <sup>a</sup>	2	.683
N of Valid Cases	7165		

a. 0 cells (.0%) have expected count less than 5. The minimum expected count is 109.71.

Table 4.3.1.3 Measurement of strength of association between multiple concurrent sexual partnerships and household wealth

		Value	Approx. Sig.
Nominal by nominal	Cramer's V	.010	.683

From table 4.3.1.3, the Cramer's V coefficient which measures the strength of the association was noted as 0.010 and the result is statistically non-significant with a p-value >0.05.

Considering this observation we can deduce the strength of association to be of low, which is no association between concurrent sexual partnerships and household wealth basing on data from 2005/6 ZDHS.

#### 4.4.0 UNPROTECTED SEX AND SOCIO-DEMOGRAPHIC VARIABLES

### **CROSSTABULATIONS**

There were notable missing values in this section that were not considered for analysis.

Table 4.4.1.1 unprotected sex and Household wealth crosstabulations

#### Crosstab

	Household Wealth			th		
				Middle		
			Poor	household	Wealthy	
			household	wealth	household	Total
Engaged in unprotected	Yes	Count	116	29	80	225
sex		% within Household Wealth	54.7%	27.4%	24.7%	35.0%
	No	Count	96	77	244	417
		% within Household Wealth	45.3%	72.6%	75.3%	65.0%
Total		Count	212	106	324	642
		% within Household Wealth	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%

a. Low total count due to missing values

From table 4.4.1.1, considering the poor household category as the reference group, we note that men from middle household wealth were 27.3% less likely to engage in unprotected sex and also men from wealthy households who were noted as 30% less likely to engage in unprotected sex. It was also noted that 27.4% of the men from the middle wealth household reported having engaged in unprotected sex with 72.6% reporting using protection. A similar pattern is noted amongst the wealthy who reports 24.7% having engaged in unprotected sex. About 54.7% of the men from poor households reported engaging in unprotected sex. From

these observations there seem to be differences in engagement in unprotected sex based on wealth enough to reasonably constitute some clear dependent association between unprotected sex and wealth. Missing values were not considered for analysis.

Table 4.4.1.2 Chi- Square Tests for association between unprotected sex and household wealth

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	54.049 <sup>a</sup>	2	.000
N of Valid Cases	642		

a. 0 cells (.0%) have expected count less than 5. The minimum expected count is 37.15.

**From the table 4.4.1.2**, we observed a Chi- Square statistic of 54.049 which is associated with a p-value <0.05 and so we reject the null hypothesis. We therefore find support for the research hypothesis and can conclude that there is association between unprotected sex and household wealth.

Table 4.4.1.3 Measurement of strength of association between unprotected sex and household wealth

**Symmetric Measures** 

_	Value	Approx. Sig.
Cramer's V	.290	.000
N of Valid Cases	642	

From table 4.4.1.3, the Cramer's V coefficient which measures the strength of the association was noted as 0.290 and the result is statistically significant with a p-value <0.05. Considering this observation we can deduce the strength of association to be of moderate association between unprotected sex and household wealth basing on data from 2005/6 ZDHS.

### **4.2** BIVARIATE ANALYSIS RESULTS

This section presents the results of the unadjusted logistic regression analyses which were carried out to find out the bivariate relationship between each socio-demographic variable and selected sexual behaviour. Research has shown mixed outcomes between the association of wealth and sexual behaviours of men in Southern Africa (Asare and Annim, 2008).

In this section the following hypotheses were tested and were applicable for each bivariate analysis of selected socioeconomic and demographic factor and selected sexual behaviour:

 $H_0$ : There is no association between selected socio demographic factor and selected sexual behaviour

H₁: There is an association between selected socio demographic factor and selected sexual behaviour

In this section our selected socioeconomic and demographic factors include wealth, highest educational level, age, marital status, type of place of residence, region of residence and religion. The sexual behaviours employed included concurrent sexual partnerships, multiple concurrent sexual partnerships and unprotected sex.

HOUSEHOLD WEALTH AND SEXUAL BEHAVIOUR OF MEN

Compared with men from poor households, men from middle wealth households were less likely to have had concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 0.69, 95%CI 0.69 to 0.79), less likely to have had unprotected sex in their last encounter (OR 0.31, 95%CI 0.19 to

0.51). The men from wealthy households were less likely to have had unprotected sex in the last encounter (OR 0.27, 95% CI 0.19 to 0.39).

Considering the association between wealth and multiple concurrent sexual partnerships, the observed Chi-Square statistic was associated with a p-value of 0.7. This p-value far exceeded our standard of 0.05, so we are unable to reject the null hypothesis. Thus we do not find support for the research hypothesis and cannot conclude that wealth is associated with multiple concurrent sexual partnerships.

From the table 4.1, however, the observed Chi-Square Statistic had p-values <0.05. So we reject the null hypothesis. We thus find support for the research hypothesis and can conclude that wealth was associated with concurrent sexual partnerships and unprotected sex in the last encounter.

### EDUCATION LEVEL AND SEXUAL BEHAVIOUR OF MEN

From table 4.2, it is noted that compared with men with a primary education or no education, the men with secondary education were less likely to have had concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 0.73, 95%CI 0.66 to 0.81), less likely to engage in unprotected sex in their last encounter (OR 0.18, 95% CI 0.12 to 0.25)

Compared with men with a primary education or no education, men with higher education were more likely to have had concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 1.74, 95% CI 1.38 to 2.19) but less likely to have had multiple concurrent sexual partnerships (OR

0.64, 95%CI 0.42 to 0.99). The men with higher education were less likely to engage in unprotected sex (OR 0.08, 95% CI 0.03 to 0.26)

However in table 4.2, the observed Chi-Square Statistic had p-values <0.05 and so we reject the null hypothesis. Thus we find support for the research hypothesis and can conclude that education level was associated with concurrent sexual partnerships, unprotected sex in the last encounter and coital debut at 17 years or younger. However in considering the association between educational level and multiple concurrent sexual partnerships, the observed Chi-Square statistic was associated with a p-value of 0.08, exceeding our standard of 0.05, so we are unable to reject the null hypothesis. Thus we do not find support for the research hypothesis and cannot conclude that level of education is associated with multiple concurrent sexual partnerships.

Table 4.1 Unadjusted odd ratios of the associations between selected characteristics and sexual behaviours

		ncurrent sexual rships in the last 12 months	partnersh	concurrent sexual hips in the last 12 months	Unprotected sex in the last encounter			
Characteristics		N=7166	ı	N= 7166	N= 605			
	Exp(B)		Ехр (В)		Ехр(В			
Household wealth								
Poor household	1.00		1.00					
Middle wealth household	0.69	(0.60 - 0.79)*	0.91	(0.71 - 1.13)	0.31	(0.19 - 0.51)*		
Wealthy household	0.99	(0.89 - 1.10)	0.94	(0.78 - 1.12)	0.27	(0.19 - 0.39) *		
Pearson Chi-Square p-value	0.00*		0.70		0.00*			
<b>Education level</b>								
Primary/No education	1.00		1.00					
Secondary education	0.73	(0.66 - 0.81) *	1.00	(0.84 - 1.20)	0.18	(0.12 - 0.25) *		
Higher education	1.74	(1.38 - 2.19) *	0.64	(0.42 - 0.99) *	0.08	(0.03 - 0.26) *		
Person Chi-Square p- value	0.00*		0.08		0.00*			
Age								
15-24 years	1.00		1.00					
25-34 years	8.32	(7.31 - 9.46) *	1.85	(1.53 - 2.23) *	1.11	(0.74 - 1.66)		
35-44 years	13.37	(11.21 - 15.95) *	1.27	(1.00 - 1.62)	2.72	(1.67 - 4.44) *		
>45 years	14.29	(11.49 - 17.77) *	1.18	(0.87 - 1.58)	9.93	(5.04 - 19.56) *		
Pearson Chi-Square	0.00*		0.00*		0.00*			
Marital status								

Never Married Married / Living together Divorced / Widowed /	1.00 21.60	(20.00 -	24.56) *	1.00 1.94	•	2.32) *	2.78	(1.90 -	4.08) *
Separated	3.36	(2.70 -	4.21) *	2.39	(1.71 -	3.35)	0.73	(0.32 -	1.07)
Pearson Chi-Square p- value	0.00*			0.00*			0.29		
Type of residence									
Rural residence	1.00			1.00			1.00		
Urban residence	1.06	(0.96 -	1.17)	1.05	(0.89 -	1.24)	0.36	(0.26 -	0.52) *
Pearson Chi-Square p-	0.00			0.54			0.00+		
value	0.23			0.56			0.00*		
Region of residence									
Harare	1.00			1.00					
Mashonaland Central	1.10	(0.91 -	1.33)	1.15	(0.85 -	1.55)	1.52	(0.77 -	3.00)
Mashonaland East	1.07	(0.88 -	1.30)	0.24	(0.14 -	0.41) *	6.50	(2.16 -	19.57) *
Mashonaland West	1.09	(0.91 -	1.31)	1.12	(0.83 -	1.51)	2.70	(1.44 -	5.06) *
Matebeleland North	1.48	(1.18 -	1.86) *	0.96	(0.66 -	1.39)	7.14	(3.30 -	15.43) *
Matebeleland South	0.95	(0.74 -	1.21)	0.12	(0.04 -	0.31) *	3.12	(0.41 -	23.87) *
Midlands	1.01	(0.86 -	1.20)	0.83	(0.62 -	1.11)	4.01	(2.15 -	7.45) *
Masvingo	0.92	(0.77 -	1.10)	1.29	(0.97 -	1.70)	2.66	(1.45 -	4.89) *
Manicaland	0.80	(0.67 -	0.95) *	0.97	(0.72 -	1.31)	2.13	(1.12 -	4.07) *
Bulawayo	1.36	(1.09 -	1.68) *	0.82	(0.56 -	1.19)	1.52	(0.65 -	3.53)
Pearson Chi-Square p-									
value	0.00*			0.00*			0.00*		
Religion									

None	1.00		1.00			
Roman Catholic	0.97	(0.81 - 1.15)	0.93	(0.70 - 1.22)	0.84	(0.47 - 1.49)
Protestant/ Pentecostal	0.60	(0.53 - 0.69) *	0.65	(0.52 - 0.81) *	0.68	(0.43 - 1.08)
Apostolic sect	0.81	(0.70 - 0.92) *	0.66	(0.52 - 0.84) *	2.02	(1.27 - 3.22) *
Other Christian	0.74	(0.56 - 0.96) *	0.43	(0.24 - 0.77) *	2.07	(0.74 - 5.79)
Traditional	1.52	(1.24 - 1.88) *	1.12	(0.83 - 1.51)	1.35	(0.75 - 2.42)
Pearson Chi-Square p- value	0.00*		0.00*		0.00*	

# \*p<0.05

Values are odds ratios (95% Confidence Intervals) Missing cases were excluded from analysis (N total = 7175)

#### AGE AND SEXUAL BEHAVIOUR OF MEN

Compared with men of the age group 15-24 years men aged 25-34 years were more likely to have engaged in concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 8.32, 95% CI 7.31 to 9.46) and more likely to have engaged in multiple concurrent sexual partnerships (OR 1.85, 95% CI 1.53 to 2. 23). Men aged 35-44 years were more likely to have engaged in concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 13.37, 95% CI 11.21 to 15.95) and we also more likely to have had unprotected sex in their last encounter (OR 2.72, 95% CI 1.67 to 4.44). The men above 45 years, compared with the men aged 15- 24 years were more likely to have had concurrent sexual partnerships (OR14.29, 95% CI 11.49 to 17.77) and more likely to have had unprotected sex in the last encounter (OR 9.93, 95% CI 5.04 to 19.56).

However in table 4.2, the observed Chi-Square Statistic had p-values <0.05 and so we reject the null hypothesis. Thus, we find support for the research hypotheses and can conclude that age was associated with concurrent sexual partnerships, multiple concurrent sexual partnerships and unprotected sex in the last encounter.

#### Marital Status and Sexual Behaviour of Men

From table 4.2, compared with the men who have never married, the married men or those living together with a partner, were more likely to have had concurrent sexual partnership in the last 12 months (OR 21.60, 95% CI 20.00 to 24.56), more likely to have had multiple concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 1.94, 95% CI 1.63 to 2.3) and more likely to have had unprotected sex in their last encounter (OR 2.78, 95% CI 1.90 to 4.08). Compared with men who had never been married, those men who were either divorced,

widowed or separated were more likely to have had concurrent sexual partnership in the last 12 months (OR 3.36, 95% CI 2.70 to 4.21) and more likely to have had multiple concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 2.39, 95% CI 1.71 to 3.35)

From table 4.2, the observed Chi-Square Statistic had p-values <0.05 and so we reject the null hypotheses. Thus, we find support for the research hypotheses and can conclude that marital status was associated with concurrent sexual partnerships and multiple concurrent sexual partnerships. However in considering the association between marital status and unprotected sex in the last, the observed Chi-Square statistic was associated with a p-value of 0.29. This p-value far exceeds our standard of 0.05, so we are unable to reject the null hypothesis. Thus we do not find support for the research hypothesis and cannot conclude that marital status is associated with unprotected sex in the last encounter.

#### Type of residence and sexual behaviour of men

From table 4.2, compared with men rural residences men with urban residence were less likely to engage in unprotected sex in their last encounter (OR 0.36, 95% CI 0.26 to 0.52). From table 4.2, the observed Chi-Square Statistic had p-values <0.05 and so we reject the null hypotheses, thus we find support for the research hypotheses and can conclude that type of residence was associated with unprotected sex at last encounter. However in considering the association between the type of place of residence and concurrent sexual partnership and multiple concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months, the observed Chi-Square statistic was associated with p-values of 0.23 and 0.56 respectively. This far exceeded our standard of 0.05, so we are unable to reject the null hypotheses. Thus we do not find support for the research

hypotheses and cannot conclude that type of place of residence is associated with concurrent sexual partnership and multiple concurrent sexual partnerships.

#### REGION OF RESIDENCE AND SEXUAL BEHAVIOUR OF MEN

From the table 4.2, compared with men in the Harare region men in Mashonaland East were less likely to have had multiple concurrent sexual partnerships (OR 0.24, 95% CI 0.14 to 0.41) and more likely to have engaged in unprotected sex in their last encounter (OR 6.5, 95% CI 2.16 to 19.57). Men in Mashonaland West were more likely to have engaged in unprotected sex in their last encounter (OR 2.70, 95% CI 1.44 to 5.06). Men in Matebeleland North, compared with those in Harare region were more likely to have had concurrent sexual partners in the last 12 months (OR 1.48, 95% CI 1.18 to 1.86) and more likely to have had unprotected sex at last encounter (OR 7.14, 95% CI 3.30 to 15.43). Compared with men in Harare region, men in Matebeleland South were less likely to have had multiple concurrent sexual partners in the last 12 months preceding the survey. Men in Midlands region when compared with men in the Harare region, were more likely to have had unprotected sex (OR 4.01, 95% CI 2.15 to 7.45).

Men in Masvingo region, compared with those in Harare region were more likely to have had unprotected sex at last encounter (OR 2.66, 95% CI 1.45 to 4.89). Men in Manicaland region, compared with those in Harare region were less likely to have had concurrent sexual partners in the last 12 months (OR 0.80, 95% CI 0.67 to 0.95), but were more likely to have had unprotected sex at last encounter (OR 2.13, 95% CI 1.12 to 4.07). Men in Bulawayo region, compared with those in Harare region were more likely to have had concurrent sexual partners in the last 12 months (OR 1.36, 95% CI 1.09 to 1.68).

From table 4.2, the observed Chi-Square Statistic had p-values <0.05 and so we reject the null hypotheses. We thus find support for the research hypotheses and can conclude that region of residence was associated with concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months, multiple concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 and unprotected sex at last encounter.

#### RELIGION AND SEXUAL BEHAVIOUR OF MEN

From table 4.2, compared with men with no religious affiliation the men belonging to the Protestant and Pentecostal religions were less likely to have had concurrent sexual partnership (OR 0.60, 95% 0.53 to 0.69) and less likely to have had multiple concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 0.65, 95% CI 0.52 to 0.81). The men belonging to the Apostolic sect were less likely to engage in concurrent sexual partnership in the last 12 months (OR 0.81, 95% CI 0.70 to 0.92) and less likely to have had multiple concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 0.66, 95% CI 0.52 to 0.84). These men belonging to the apostolic sect were however more likely to engage in unprotected sex in their last encounter (OR 2.02, 95% CI 1.27 to 3.22) compared with men with no religion affiliation.

The men belonging to other Christian religion were less likely to have engaged in concurrent sexual partnership in the last 12 months (OR 0.74, 95% CI 0.56 to 0.96) and were less likely to have had multiple concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 0.43, 95% CI 0.24 to 0.77). Men belonging to local traditional religion, when compared with those with no religious affiliation were more likely to have had multiple concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 1.24, 95% CI 1.24 to 1.88).

From table 4.2, the observed Chi-Square Statistic had p-values <0.05 and so we reject the null hypotheses. We thus find support for the research hypotheses. We can conclude that religion was associated with concurrent sexual partnership in the last 12 months, multiple concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 and unprotected sex at last encounter.

### CONCLUSION

A mixed pattern of associations between socio-demographic characteristics and male sexual behaviours were noted in this bivariate analysis which is not conclusive as each characteristic is likely to influence the model in some way and hence the need for a multivariate analysis.

# **CHAPTER 5**

#### **5.0 MULTIVARIATE ANALYSES**

#### Introduction

This chapter uses multivariate analysis to evaluate the effect of wealth and selected sociodemographic variables (education level, age, marital status, type of residence, region of residence and religion) on selected male sexual behaviours. This method of analysis is more advanced than the bivariate analysis because it simultaneously analyses the influence of several independent variables, on the dependent variable.

In this study the dependent variables included among others the following selected male sexual behaviours:

- Concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months
- Multiple concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months
- Unprotected sex in the last encounter

The logit model was adopted to estimate odds ratios for males aged 15 to 54 years old who had reported that they have been or are sexually active. The logit model was selected for use because of its strengths in overcoming the inherent challenges associated with linear probability models as logit model provides relative estimation based on probabilities (Asare and Annim, 2008). Two estimation models are presented in this study. For the purposes of this study, Model 1 used estimates for wealth status, education and age as the independent variables. In model 2, marital status, rural and urban residence, regional residence and religion

are added because these characteristics are known to influence sexual behaviour (Asare and Annim, 2008). However in the table below only the final model 2 results are shown and described. Detailed results of the different models are attached in the appendix.

# **5.2 MULTIPLE LOGISTIC REGRESSION MODELLING RESULTS**

Table 5.2 Odds ratios of the association between selected characteristics and sexual behaviour based on final models

Characteristics	partners	Concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (Yes / No)			Concurre ships in the months (Yes / No		Unprotected sex in the last encounter (Yes / No)		
		N= 7093			N= 7093			N=596	
	Exp(B)		C.I. for P(B)	Ехр(В)		% C.I. for (P(B)	Exp(B)		C.I. for P(B)
Household Wealth									
Poor household (Ref)	1.00			1.00			1.00		
Middle wealth household	1.08	(0.90 -	1.30)	1.08	(0.83 -	1.40)	0.41*	(0.22 -	0.76)
Wealthy household	1.16	(0.93 -	1.45)	0.91	(0.67 -	1.24)	0.47	(0.22 -	1.00)
p-value	0.402			0.601			0.010		
Education level									
Primary/No education( Ref)	1.00			1.00			1.00 0.32*		
Secondary education	0.98	(0.84 -	1.15)	1.03	(0.84 -	1.27)	*	(0.20 -	0.50)
Higher education	1.51*	(1.10 -	2.06)	0.64	(0.40 -	1.01)	0.18 *	(0.05 -	0.67)
p-value	0.014			0.088			<0.001		
Age									
15-24 years (Ref)	1.00			1.00			1.00		
25-34 years	2.05*	(1.72 -	2.46)	1.03	(0.79 -	1.34)	0.63	(0.36 -	1.11)
35-44 years	2.00 **	(1.57 -	2.55)	0.62*	(0.45 -	0.86)	1.52	(0.76 -	3.02)

>45 years	1.92 **	(1.44 -	2.55)	0.59 *	(0.40 -	0.86)	5.38*	(2.26 -	12.83
p-value	<0.001			<0.001			<0.001		
Marital status									
Never Married (Ref)	1.00			1.00			1.00		
Married / Living together	13.29**	(11.04 -	16.02)	2.30 **	(1.75 -	3.01)	2.01 *	(1.12 -	3.62)
Divorced / Widowed / Separated	2.07* *	(1.59 -	2.71)	2.64 **	(1.77 -	3.95)	0.65	(0.23 -	1.80)
p-value	<0.001			<0.00			0.010		
Type of residence									
Rural residence (Ref)	1.00			1.00			1.00		
Urban residence	0.90	(0.71 -	1.14)	1.22	(0.87 -	1.71)	0.49	(0.21 -	1.13)
p-value	0.385			0.260			0.096		
Region of residence									
Harare (Ref)	1.00			1.00			1.00		
Mashonaland Central	1.09	(0.81 -	1.46)	1.22	(0.83 -	1.78)	0.42	(0.15 -	1.13)
Mashonaland East	1.13	(0.84 -	1.52)	0.25**	(0.14 -	0.44)	2.77	(0.67 -	11.44)
Mashonaland West	0.99	(0.75 -	1.30)	1.06	(0.74 -	1.50)	0.84	(0.36 -	1.98)
Matebeleland North	2.00* *	(1.44 -	2.78)	1.01	(0.65 -	1.56)	1.61	(0.60 -	4.34)
Matebeleland South	1.60*	(1.14 -	2.24)	0.14**	(0.05 -	0.40)	0.72	(0.07 -	7.58)
Midlands	1.14	(0.89 -	1.46)	0.89	(0.64 -	1.25)	1.15	(0.47 -	2.84)
Masvingo	1.00	(0.75 -	1.32)	1.51*	(1.06 -	2.17)	0.66	(0.27 -	1.62)
Manicaland	0.86	(0.66 -	1.13)	1.19	(0.83 -	1.71)	0.97	(0.39 -	2.40)
Bulawayo	2.22* *	(1.69 -	2.91)	0.91	(0.62 -	1.33)	1.66	(0.63 -	4.34)
	<0.001			<0.00			0.106		

None (Ref)	1.00			1.00			1.00		
Roman Catholic	1.06	(0.85 -	1.33)	0.93	(0.69 -	1.24)	0.99	(0.50 -	1.98)
Protestant/ Pentecostal	0.77*	(0.65 -	0.91)	0.70*	(0.56 -	0.89)	0.79	(0.45 -	1.40)
Apostolic sect	0.96	(0.80 -	1.15)	0.60**	(0.47 -	0.77)	1.90*	(1.06 -	3.41)
Other Christian	0.84	(0.60 -	1.18)	0.42*	(0.23 -	0.77)	2.33	(0.64 -	8.52)
Traditional	1.06	(0.81 -	1.38)	0.91	(0.66 -	1.24)	0.90	(0.43 -	1.92)
p-value	0.010			<0.00			0.071		

N/A = Not applicable; Ref = Reference category; \* p <0.05; \*\* p<0.001. Missing cases were not considered in the analyses

#### WEALTH STATUS

Table 5.2 shows the odds ratios from the multiple logistic regression modelling. It was noted that after controlling for marital status, type of place of residence, region of residence and religion, there was no significant association between being a men from a wealthy household and either concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months or multiple concurrent sexual partnerships. However wealth remained significantly associated with unprotected sex in the last encounter. Compared to men from poor households, the men from middle wealth household were less likely to engage in unprotected sex in the last encounter (OR 0.41, 95% CI 0.22 to 0.76).

#### LEVEL OF EDUCATION

Compared to men who had never been to school or with just primary education, those with secondary education were less likely to engage in unprotected sex in their last encounter (OR 0.32, 95% CI 0.20 to 0.50) and were also less likely to have had coital debut at 17 or younger (OR 0.67, 95% CI 0.57 to 0.78). Men with higher education were more likely to engage in concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 1.51, 95% CI 1.10 to 2.06) than men with no education or with just primary education. Compared to men who had never been to school or with just primary education, those with higher education were less likely to engage in unprotected sex (OR 0.18, 95% CI 0.05 to 0.67) and less likely to have had coital debut at 17 years or younger (OR 0.49, 95% 0.34 to 0.71). There was a significant trend towards concurrent sexual partnerships (p-value for trend= 0.014), unprotected sex (p-value for trend <0.001) and coital debut at 17 or younger (p-value for trend <0.001 with increasing level of education).

Age

From this study the other independent predictors were marital status, age, type of place of residence, region of residence and religion. From table 5.2, compared to men 15 -24 years, the men in the age group 25 – 34 years were more likely to have had concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 2.05, 95% CI 1.72 to 2.46) but were less likely to have had coital debut at 17 years (OR 0.69, 95% CI 0.55 to 0.85). The 35 – 44 years age group were more likely to engage in concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 2.00, 95% CI 1.57 to 2.55) but less likely to have had multiple concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 0.62, 95% CI 0.45 to 0.86) and less likely to have had coital debut at 17 years or younger (OR 0.53, 95% CI 0.41 to 0.69). Compared to men 15 -24 years, men with age greater than 45 years were more likely to engage in concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 1.92, 95% CI 1.44 to 2.55), and ,were 5 times more likely to engage in unprotected sex (OR 5.38, 95% CI 2.26 to 12.83) compared with the reference group. However these men greater than 45 years were less likely to have had multiple concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 0.59, 95% CI 0.40 to 0.86) compared to the 15 – 24 years age group and were also less likely to have had coital debut at 17 or younger.

# Type of residence

It was also noted in this study that after controlling for marital status, type of place of residence, region of residence and religion, there was no significant association between type of residence and either concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months, multiple concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months, unprotected sex in the last encounter or coital sexual debut at 17 years or younger.

### Marital Status

From table 5.2, married men or those living together with partners, when compared to the single men, those who have never married it is noted that the latter group was 13 times more likely than the singles to have had concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 13.29, 95% CI 11.04 to 16.02). The married men or living together were more likely to have had multiple concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 2.30, 95% CI 1.75 to 3.01) and were more likely to have had unprotected sex in the last encounter (OR 2.01, 95% CI 1.12 to 3.62 and more likely to have had coital debut at 17 or younger (OR 1.42, 95% CI 1.14 to 1.75). When compared to the single men, those who had never been married, the divorced, widowed and separated were more likely to have had concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 2.07, 95% CI 1.59 to 2.71). These divorced, widowed and separated men were also more likely to have had multiple concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 2.64, 95% CI 1.77 to 3.95), more likely to have had coital debut at 17 or younger (OR 1.85, 95% CI 1.33 to 2.57).

#### REGION OF RESIDENCE

Concerning region of residence, men living in Mashonaland east were less likely to have had multiple concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 0.25, 95% CI 0.14 to 0.44) and were less likely to have had coital sexual debut at 17 years or younger (OR 0.64, 95% CI 0.45 to 0.91) compared with men in the Harare region hosting the capital city. Men residing in Matebeleland North were more likely to have had concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 2.00, 95% CI 1.44 to 2.78) compared to men residing in Harare region. Men residing in Matebeleland South were however more likely to have had concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 1.60, 95% CI 1.14 to 2.24), less likely however to have had multiple concurrent

sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 0.14, 95% CI 0.05 to 0.40) and were less likely to have had coital debut at 17 years or younger (OR 0.54, 95% CI 0.35 to 0.83). Men residing in Masvingo were more likely to have had multiple concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 1.51, 95% CI 1.06 to 2.17) compared with men in Harare hosting the capital city. Men in Manicaland were less likely to have had coital debut at 17 or younger (OR 0.68, 95% CI 0.49 to 0.93) when compared with men residing in the Harare region. Men in Bulawayo were more likely to have had concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 2.22, 95% CI 1.69 to 2.91) and more likely to have had coital debut at 17 years or younger (OR 1.36, 95% CI 1.02 to 1.81).

#### **RELIGIOUS AFFILIATION**

Considering religious affiliation, men belonging to Protestant and Pentecostal churches were less likely to have had concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 0.77, 95% CI 0.65 to 0.91) and less likely to have had multiple concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 0.70, 95% CI.056 to 0.89) when compared with men with no religious affiliation at all. The men belonging to the Apostolic sect were less likely to have had multiple concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 0.60, 95% CI 0.47 to 0.77), less likely to have had coital debut at 17 years or younger (OR 0.75, 95% CI 0.62 to 0.91) but were more likely to have had unprotected sex in their last encounter (OR 1.90, 95% CI 1.06 to 3.41) when compared with men with no religious affiliation. Men belonging to other Christian groups were less likely to have multiple concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (OR 0.42, 95% CI 0.23 to 0.77).

# **CHAPTER 6**

# **DISCUSSION**

CHARACTERISTICS OF THE RESPONDENTS

The main objective of this study was to examine the association between wealth and men's sexual behaviour in Zimbabwe. A close look at the characteristics of the study population revealed that most of the survey respondents were quite young, with men 15 -24 years old constituting 46.8% of the survey respondents. Similar findings were reported by Kongnyuy et al. (2006) in Cameroon where most of the study population was also quite young with the men 15 -29 approximately old making up 48.3% of the survey respondents. Global trends have shown the high proportions of "this young age group" in the populations in developing countries. The survey was also dominated by men from wealthy households as they comprised 50.9% of the survey respondents. The men from middle wealth households constituted 17.2% of the survey respondents whilst men from the poor households made up 31.9% of the survey respondents. In terms of levels of education of the male participants, 65.3% had secondary education followed by 28.8% who had primary education and 5.9% had higher education. Thus it can be summed up that the respondents comprised of mostly young men who were wealthy and with secondary education.

This study has also shown that 56% of the men that participated in the study had engaged in concurrent sexual partnerships in the 12 months preceding the survey and 8.9% had engaged in multiple concurrent sexual partnerships in the 12 months preceding the survey. It was also found out that 35.1% of these men had engaged in unprotected sex. The high concurrent rates among these men of 56% coupled with 35.1% of men engaging in unprotected sex could have been some

of the key factors that put the general population HIV prevalence rates in Zimbabwe at 19% in 2005. While the trend from 2001 at 27% to 19% in 2005 shows a decline, this HIV prevalence rate of 19% was still high. From these findings it seems that sexual behaviours especially multiple and concurrent sexual partnerships, unprotected sex were driving the epidemic. The question is where are these sexual behaviours in the infection equation for one to appreciate the contribution of the sexual behaviours mentioned above to HIV incidence in a population?

#### CROSSTABULATION OF SEXUAL BEHAVIOUR AND WEALTH

The study found support for the research hypothesis and can conclude that there was association between men's household wealth and engagement in concurrent sexual partnerships. However the Cramer's V coefficient which measures the strength of the association showed that there is little if any association between concurrent sexual partnerships and household wealth. Crosstabulations also revealed that there was no association between multiple concurrent sexual partnerships and men's household wealth. This was confirmed by Cramer's V coefficient, that revealed that the strength of association to be of low, which is no association between concurrent sexual partnerships and household wealth basing on data from 2005/6 ZDHS. However the crosstabulations between unprotected sex and wealth, in the study, showed that there is association between unprotected sex and household wealth. This was confirmed by Cramer's V coefficient which showed moderate association between unprotected sex and household wealth basing on data from 2005/6 ZDHS.

# **BIVARIATE ANALYSIS**

The study did not find support for the research hypothesis and could not conclude that wealth was associated with multiple concurrent sexual partnerships. However, bivariate analysis revealed that

wealth was associated with concurrent sexual partnerships and unprotected sex in the last encounter.

In the crosstabulations and bivariate analysis, there seems to be a consistent pattern in wealth not being associated with multiple concurrent sexual partnerships and also consistence in association of wealth and unprotected sex. Inconsistent associations were noted between concurrent sexual partnerships and wealth.

#### MULTIVARIATE ANALYSIS

Our contention in this study that wealth was associated with risky sexual behaviours among men in Zimbabwe was confirmed only for unprotected sex and not for multiple and concurrent sexual partnerships. After controlling for other factors, the men from middle wealth households were less likely to engage in unprotected sex compared to men from poor households. Our findings are consistent with Tladi (2006) who highlighted that the poor and less educated were more likely to engage in unprotected sex.

These findings are not consistent with findings from other researchers. Kongnyuy, et al. (2006) in their Cameroon study observed that the wealthier men in Cameroon were likely to engage in unprotected sex. Findings in this study are also inconsistent with the findings by Shelton et al. (2005) in which they reported that household wealth in Tanzania was associated with HIV prevalence. In Ghana wealthiest men were more likely to engage in unprotected sex (Kongnyuy, et. al, 2006).

Condom use is a mediating factor in the HIV infection equation that affects the potential for transmission of infection from infected partner. That's why some researchers have interchangeably focused on risky sexual behaviours and level of infection. Most debates have centred on associations between wealth status and levels of infection with some measuring sexual risk taking behaviours against wealth status.

The wealthy are more likely to adopt safer sexual behaviours. Borrowing from David Cohen, a UNDP senior advisor on HIV and Development with UNDP, wealth is generally associated with strong endowments of human and financial resources such high levels of education with associated high levels of literacy and more marketable skills, generally good health status and high labour productivity as a result. The wealthy households are often politically and socially recognised. These advantages of social inclusion increase their opportunities for interventions aimed at changing their sexual behaviours. Most of the IEC activities are likely to reach the wealthy households and usually relevant, operable given the reality of their lives. These people usually have the incentive and resources, unlike the poor ones, to adopt the recommended sexual behaviours like use of protection in this study.

However Fox (2010) and Bingenheimer (2010) believe that wealth provides the means to sustain sexual networks and that's why there is an increase in HIV prevalence amongst the wealthy. These people are often educated, with higher disposable income of fungible economic resources which makes then adopt unsafe sexual behaviours. Literature has it that there has been a myriad of mixed associations however between wealth and sexual behaviours in the different countries. This may be explained by countries or regions being at different levels of the HIV epidemic different

cultural contexts and different levels of sexual behaviour transitions from unsafe to safe sexual behaviours (Kongnyuy, 2006).

However in this study, after controlling for age, education level, marital status, type of place of residence, region of residence and religion, the relationship between wealth status and sexual behaviours (concurrent sexual partnerships and multiple concurrent sexual partnerships) was statistically insignificant with p-Values greater than 0.05. These findings are consistent with the findings by Kimuna and Djamba (2005) who found that in Zambia none of the three proxies of wealth (household wealth index, education level and occupation) was associated with extramarital sex. The findings are also similar to Asare and Annim (2008)'s findings in which after controlling for other factors for males in Ghana, the association between wealth and sexual behaviour was statistically insignificant. The study findings are also consistent with the findings in Cote d'Ivoire that highlighted that household wealth was not significantly associated with men's extramarital sex as measured in this study as concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months and multiple concurrent sexual partnerships in the last 12 months (Kimuna and Djamba, 2005).

These findings are not consistent with the findings by Mitsunaga et al. (2005) who reported that wealthy men in Nigeria were more likely to have extramarital sex than the poor men. Shelton, et. al, (2005) also reported that in Tanzania amongst men there was no association between wealth and number of sexual partners or with a prostitute in the past 12 months. The findings are also similar to Asare and Annim (2008)'s findings in which after controlling for other factors for males in Kenya wealth was associated with sexual behaviour.

The reason why household wealth is not more strongly or consistently associated with men's multiple sexual partnerships is not clear (Bingenheimer, 2010). However there is a possibility that household is not identical to control of fungible economic or financial resources. A closer analysis of the wealth index, it is noted that for example cement floors and running water are not particularly fungible. Some goods may be readily transferable like television or bicycle and they are regarded more as household assets than individual assets or as individual assets of household members other than the respondent focused on by the study. It is also important to note that the mixture of items often included in the wealth index variable and the distribution of men's positions within a household are different in each country. It is against this background of methodological complexities that gives the weakness and inconsistency in the findings with respect to the Demographic and Health Survey wealth index. The association between wealth and men's multiple concurrent sexual partnerships is strongest and most consistent in West African countries where HIV prevalence has been noted to be lower than in East and Southern Africa. This finding may be plausible, but is may be attributable to reductions in multiple concurrent partnerships among the wealthier who are often better informed in high prevalence but not low prevalence settings (Bingenheimer, 2010).

Positive associations between wealth and multiple concurrent sexual partnerships have been recorded in other countries. There is however extensive evidence on the role of multiple and concurrent sexual partnerships in enhancing HIV infection in populations. These sexual behaviours influence whether the sexual contact is potentially infectious that influence exposure to infection. (Slaymaker, et. al, 2004). Networks of longer term multiple and concurrent sexual partnerships may contribute more to new infections (HIV incidence rates) than serial monogamy and once off

sexual encounters. Here primary partner may have no other partner but secondary partner may have another concurrent sexual partner in another sexual network and this creates a sexual web or network. Even though the average number of partners per person may be low, HIV risk in this network is high. Once one person in the concurrent sexual partnerships web is HIV infected, everyone in the web is at high risk because more people are exposed to the virus and also because recently infected people have very high viral loads and much more infectious (Shelton, et. al, 2005).

However note that wealth is a key factor in sustaining these networks. It is associated with mobility, time and resources to sustain concurrent sexual partnerships. The relationships may have a strong economic bearing but poverty may not be a key factor. Wealth also provides opportunities for social interaction, thereby creating opportunities for partnerships to develop (Shelton, et. al, 2005). It could safely be said that this wealth and economic disadvantage are a function of the HIV infection equation. This explains the other observed positive associations in other countries mentioned above like Nigeria, Cameroon and Tanzania and Kenya. As has already been mentioned, the differences in association between wealth and sexual behaviours or HIV risk noted amongst different countries may be attributed to the different socio-cultural practices and the different stages of the HIV epidemic in different countries (Kongnyuy, et. al, 2006).

# **CHAPTER 7**

#### 7.0 Conclusion and Recommendations

# 7.1 CONCLUSION

The main objective of this study was to examine the association between wealth and men's sexual behaviour in Zimbabwe. Our contention or hypothesis in this study that wealth was associated with risky sexual behaviours among men in Zimbabwe was only confirmed for unprotected sex in the last encounter. After controlling for other factors, the men from middle wealth households were less likely to engage in unprotected sex compared to men from poor households. The hypotheses that (i) wealth was associated with multiple sexual partnerships and (ii) wealth was associated with concurrent sexual partnerships and were not confirmed in this study.

# 7.2 RECOMMENDATIONS

There is need to continue with investment in targeted behaviour change interventions that emphasize on education on HIV and AIDS and the provision of general information across the social strata. Equitable distribution of wealth and sound economic policies are critical in improving the general welfare of nationals so as to eliminate some of the factors that cloud the associations between socioeconomic and demographic factors and sexual behaviours of individuals or subgroups.

While most interventions have specifically emphasized on the sexual risk taking of young people, there is need to also include the older age groups. There has been less effort in terms of focus on the subgroups and individuals in the higher income or wealthy and older categories that can use

their "fungible economic resources" as described by Bingenheimer (2010) or disposable income for risky sexual behaviours and sustaining sexual networks.

Most interventions have also focused on the sexual networking of young females with older males but emphasizing more on the young females. These interventions have deliberately neglected the older males especially the married or those in unions that drive and sustain these sexual networks with young women. Thus the older males especially the married or those in some union constitute a target group for HIV intervention because these older men often have disposable income that creates an enabling environment for sexual risk taking behaviour (Asare and Annim, 2008).

The changing phases of HIV infection demonstrates that there are a number of socio-demographic factors that explain sexual risk- taking behaviour that exposes people to risk. Poverty is no longer the only key factor that drives the pandemic amongst men. Interventions must focus on behaviour change in the area of multiple concurrent sexual partnerships going beyond the ABC strategy. Whilst behaviour change takes time but the success cases in Uganda and Ghana show that behaviour change strategies provide results in reducing risky sexual behaviours (Asare and Annim, 2008)

Multiple and concurrent sexual partnerships drive epidemics so fast. Even though the average number of partners per person may be low, HIV risk in a sexual network is high. Serious attention should be given to partner reduction to reduce the prevalence rates. In Zimbabwe there must be concerted effort to maximize the success of prevention strategies relating to multiple and concurrent sexual partnerships by ensuring the prioritization of reduction in multiple concurrent sexual partnerships. This should include a reduction in the number and density of sexual networks

through social and behavioural change. It may be necessary, where feasible, to address structural factors (such as lengthy separation of partners due to employment practices and economic migration) that increase the likelihood of multiple concurrent sexual partnerships (UNAIDS, 2009).

The second priority of the interventions should be a reduction in the transmission of HIV within multiple and concurrent partnerships, and particularly within known discordant relationships (involving one partner who is HIV positive and the other HIV negative); including through consistent, correct male or female condom use, male circumcision, HIV counselling and testing (though antibody tests during the acute infection phase are generally negative) and antiretroviral therapy (ART) adherence (UNAIDS, 2009).

Finally, it must be reiterated that equitable distribution of wealth and sound economic policies are critical in improving the general welfare of nationals so to reduce or eliminate some of the factors that cloud the associations between socioeconomic and demographic factors and sexual behaviours of individuals.

# 7.3 LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

When interpreting these findings it is critical to take note of the following limitations in the research design and methodology. In this study we did not control for unsafe health practices. It has been reported that epidemiological studies on HIV in sub-Saharan Africa may be driven by iatrogenic transmission through unsafe injections. There is no clear evidence that HIV transmission occurs through use of unsafe (unclean) medical injections in Zimbabwe, but data is limited (ZNAC, 2011). When unsafe health care is controlled for the apparent associations between sexual behaviours and HIV infection become non-significant. In this study we did not consider the

potential confounding effect of polygamy on the relationships found. Some men reported having two or more wives (Kongnyuy, et. al, 2006).

The data used for this study was based on self reported data of which accuracy of self reports of sexual and other sensitive behaviours has always posed challenges to many social and behavioural scientists (Bingenheimer, 2010; Cleland, et. al, 2004). There are known factors that appear to influence the accuracy of retrospective self report of sexual behaviour that include the demands of the recall task and related memory error, and the social context of assessment which can influence self report bias (Schroder, et. al, 2003). Several internationally important studies on data validity and behavioural survey methodology have been conducted in Zimbabwe. These have demonstrated that self-reported data have poor validity and that interview methodology was critical. To some extent underreporting of multiple sexual partnerships is more serious amongst women than men and as a result the limitation may not be as severe for men but may suffer over reporting e.g., the never married men may exaggerate their sexual experiences with married men underreporting their extramarital experiences. The differential reporting could introduce bias causing distortions in results with respect to some demographic characteristics like marriage than others (Kongnyuy, et. al, 2006; Bingenheimer, 2010).

Sexual behaviours and demographic variables used in this study do not look at the social contexts of the men under study for these are critical to get the big picture and also that some of these aspects of sexual behaviour discussed in this study may not have the same socio-demographic correlates as multiple and concurrent sexual partnerships, coital debut at 17 years or younger and unprotected sex or use of condom etc. All major components of behavioural risk and their

complex and contradictory relationships with socio- demographic variables are critical for one to get a complete picture of men's behavioural risk for HIV acquisition of transmission in sub Saharan Africa (Bingenheimer, 2010).

It is important to also note that household wealth and education are not necessarily the best proxies for men's control of fungible economic resources. Also urban residence may not necessarily be a complete indicator of men's exposure to social control mechanisms (Bingenheimer, 2010). Finally, another limitation is that the Zimbabwe DHS did not collect information on the sex of the partners as there is evidence of homosexual relationships in Zimbabwe and anal sex has been reported elsewhere and thus sexual practices recorded may not necessarily reflect the population at large (Kongnyuy, et. al, 2006).

#### 7.4 Areas of further research

The absence of a regular sexual partner can initiate sexual networking with social or economic dimensions. The influence of being single on sexual risk-taking behaviour is an area needing research attention (Asare and Annim, 2008). Also if wealth is not significantly associated with multiple and concurrent partnerships what are the key drivers of "small houses" in Zimbabwe and what are the regional patterns and trends relating to the "small house" phenomenon?

Whilst this study attempted to provide insight into socioeconomic and demographic variables influencing sexual behaviour of men, more research is needed to provide more understanding of the variables or factors that predispose individuals to taking sexual risks as this assists in expanding the range of information and services needed by such individuals or subgroups.

# **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

Ankrah, E.M. 1991. AIDS and the social side of health. Social Science Medicine 32(9): 967–980.

Asare, K A & Annim, S K. 2008. *Wealth Status and Risky Sexual Behaviour in Ghana and Kenya.*Applied Health Economics and Health Policy, 6 (1): 27-39.

Auvert B, Ballard R, Campbell C, Caraël M, Carton M, Fehler G, Gouws E, MacPhail C, Taljaard D, Van Dam J, Williams B. 2001a. *HIV infection among youth in a South African mining town is associated with herpes simplex virus-2 seropositivity and sexual behaviour.* AIDS, 15(7):885-98.

Bingenheimer J B. 2010. *Men's multiple sexual partnerships in 15 sub-Saharan Countries: Sociodemographic patterns and implications.* Studies in family planning, Volume 41, Number 1.

Bongaarts J, Potter JE. 1983. *Fertility, biology and behavior.* New York: Academic Press.

Boerma JT, Gregson S, Nyamukapa C, Urassa M. 2003. *Understanding the uneven spread of HIV within Africa: comparative study of biologic, behavioral, and contextual factors in rural populations in Tanzania and Zimbabwe*. Sexually Transmitted Diseases, 30:779–87.

Boerma, J.T, & Weir, S.S. 2005. *Integrating demographic and epidemiological approaches to research on HIV/ AIDS: The proximate-determinants framework.* The Journal of Infectious Disease, 191(Suppl. 1), S61\_S67.

Bongaarts J. 1978. *A framework for analyzing the proximate determinants of fertility*. Population and Development Review 4:105–32.

Brody S & Potterat J. 2003. Assessing the role of anal intercourse in the epidemiology of AIDS in Africa. International Journal of STD & AIDS, 14: 413-436.

Carael, M & Glynn JR. 2007. *HIV Infection in Young Adults in Africa: Context, Risks, and Opportunities for Prevention,* in: M. Carael and J.R. Glynn (eds.), HIV, *Resurgent Infections and Population Change in Africa*. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Springer. Pp. 123-154.

Caravano, K. 1991. *More than mothers and whores: Redefining the AIDS prevention needs of women.* International Journal of Health Services, 21(1): 31–142.

Chingandu, L. 2008. *Multiple Concurrent Partnerships: The story of Zimbabwe—Are small houses a key driver? Zimbabwe:* Southern Africa HIV and AIDS Information Dissemination

Service. <a href="http://www.comminit.com/en/node/278405/38">http://www.comminit.com/en/node/278405/38</a>

Cleland J, Boerma JT, Carael , Weir SSM. 2004. *Monitoring sexual behaviour in general populations: a synthesis of lessons of the past decade. Sexually Transmitted Infections,* **80**(Suppl 2):ii1-7

Cooper, M L. 2002. *Alcohol Use and Risky Sexual Behaviour among College Students and Youth: Evaluating the Evidence.* Journal of Studies of Alcohol and Drugs, Supplement No. 14: 101-117.

Cristina de la Torre, Shane Khan, Erin Eckert, Jennifer Luna, and Todd Koppenhaver. 2009. HIV/AIDs in Namibia: Behavioural and Contextual Factors Driving the Epidemic. MEASURE Evaluation, Macro International Inc.

Davis K & Blake J.1956. *Social structure and fertility: an analytical framework*. Economic Development and Cultural Change, 4:211–35.

Davies JB, Sandström S, Shorrocks A, Wolff EN.2008. *The World Distribution of Household Wealth.* UNU World Institute for Development Economics Research (UNU-WIDER).

de Bruyn, M. 1992. *Women and AIDS in developing countries.* Social Science & Medicine 34(3): 249–262.

de Walque D, Nakiyingi-Miiro JS, Busingye J, Whitworth JA. 2005. *Changing association between schooling levels and HIV-1 infection over 11 years in a rural population cohort in south-west Uganda.* Tropical Medicine and International Health, 10:993-1001.

Fenton, L. 2004. *Preventing HIV/AIDS through poverty reduction: the only sustainable solution?* Lancet 364: 1186-7.

Fox A, M. 2010. *The Social Determinants of HIV Serostatus in Sub- Saharan Africa: An Inverse Relationship Between Poverty and HIV?* Public Health Reports/ 2010 Supplement 4 / Volume 125.

Gifford, P. 2004. *Persistence and change in contemporary African religion*. Social Compass, 51 (2):169–176.

Gillespie S, Kadiyala S, Greener R. 2007. *Is poverty or wealth driving HIV transmission?* AIDS, 21 Suppl. 7: S5-S16.

Gisselquist D, Potterat J, Brody S, Vachon F. 2003. *Let it be sexual: how health care transmission of AIDS in Africa was ignored.* International Journal of STD and AIDS, 14:146-161.

Glynn JR, Carael M, Buve A, Anagonou S, Zekeng L, Kahindo M, Musonda R (2004) \_Study Group on Heterogeneity of HIV Epidemics in African Cities. Does increased general schooling protect against HIV infection? A study in four African cities. Tropical Medicine and International Health, 9:4-14.

Halperin, D. T., O. Mugurungi, T. Hallett, Muchini B, Campbell B, Tapuwa Magure T, Benedikt C, Gregson Sl. 2011. *A Surprising Prevention Success: Why Did the HIV Epidemic Decline in Zimbabwe?* Public Library of Science Medicine (forthcoming).

Halperin, D T. and Epstein H. 2004. *Concurrent sexual partnerships help to explain Africa's high HIV prevalence: Implications for prevention.* Lancet, *364*(9,428): 4–6.

Halperin DT and Epstein H. 2007. Why is HIV prevalence so severe in Southern Africa? The role of multiple concurrent partnerships and lack of male circumcision: implications for AIDS prevention. South African Journal of HIV Medicine, 26: 19-25

Hattori M K, Braun S, Chapman H, Chuong C, Morales M, Wagley S. 2010. *Sexual Concurrency in Uganda, Zambia and Zimbabwe: The Role of Gender, Economic Status, and Migration. In Population Association of America Annual General Meeting.* Dallas, TX. April 14-16.

Hasnain M, Sinacore JM, Mensah EK, and Levy JA. 2005. *Influence of religiosity on HIV risk behaviours in active injection drug users*. AIDS Care, 17: 892-901.

Hawkes, K. 1994. On life-history evolution. Current Anthropology, 35:39-41.

Hladik W, Shabbir I, Jelaludin A, Woldu A, and Tsehaynesh M, Tadesse W. 2006. *HIV/AIDS in Ethiopia: Where is the epidemic heading?* Sexually Transmitted Infections, 82(Suppl 1):i32-5.

Mir A M, Wajid A, Reichenbach L, Khan M, Masood I. 2006. *HIV testing in national population-based surveys: experience from the Demographic and Health Surveys*. Journal of Pakistan Medical Association, 84:537-45.

Horne, C. 2004. Values and evolutionary psychology. Sociological Theory, 22(3):477–503.

Hunter, M. 2002. *The materiality of everyday sex: thinking beyond "prostitution.*\_African Studies, 61:99-120.

Lewis JJ, Donnelly CA, Mare P; Mupambireyi Z, Garnett GP. Gregson S. 2007. *Evaluating the proximate determinants framework for HIV infection in rural Zimbabwe.* Sex Transm Infect. 83 Suppl 1:i61-i69

Kimuna S & Djamba Y. 2005. Wealth and extramarital sex among men in Zambia. International Family Planning Perspectives, 31:83-89.

Kirunga CT & Ntozi JP. 1997. *Socio-economic determinants of HIV serostatus: a study of Rakai District, Uganda*. Health Transit Rev, 7(Suppl):175-188.

Kongnyuy E J, Wiysonge C S, Mbu R E, Nana P, Kouam L. 2006. *Wealth and sexual behaviour among men in Cameroon*. BioMed Central International Health and Human Rights, 6:11. doi:10.1186/1472-698X-6-11. http://www.bio-medcentral.com/1472-698X/6/11 [Accessed 2010, Oct 22].

Landman KZ, Ostermann J, Crump JA, Mgonja A, Mayhood MK, Dafrosa K. Itemba DK, Tribble A C, Ndosi EM, Chu H Y, Shao J F, Bartlett JA, Thielman N M . 2008. *Gender Differences in the Risk of HIV Infection among Persons Reporting Abstinence, Monogamy, and Multiple Sexual Partners in Northern Tanzania. PLoS ONE*, 3(8): e3075. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0003075

LeClerc-Madlala, S. 2003. *Transactional sex and the pursuit of modernity*. Social Dynamics, *29*(2), 213-233.

Lewis, J.J., Donnelly, C.A., Mare, P., Mupambireyi, Z., Garnett, G.P., & Gregson, S. 2007. *Evaluating the proximate determinants framework for HIV infection in rural Zimbabwe*. Sexual Transmission Infection, 83(Suppl. 1), i61\_i69.

Lopman, B., Nyamukapa, C., Mushati, P., Mupambireyi, Z., Mason, P., Garnett, G.P., & Gregson, S. 2008. *HIV incidence in 3 years of follow-up of a Zimbabwe cohort* \_ *1998\_2000 to 2001\_03: Contributions of proximate and underlying determinants to transmission.* International Journal of Epidemiology, 37(1), 88\_105.

Lurie M, Rosenthal S, Williams B. 2009. *Concurrency driving the African HIV epidemics: where is the evidence? Lancet,* **374**:1420-1421.

Lurie MN, Rosenthal S. 2010. *Concurrent partnerships as a driver of the HIV epidemic in sub-Saharan Africa? The evidence is limited. AIDS and Behavior*, **14:**17-24.

Mah TL, Halperin DT. 2010. Concurrent sexual partnerships and the HIV epidemics in Africa: evidence to move forward. AIDS and Behavior, **14:11**-14.

Mapingure MP, Msuya S, Kurewa NE, Munjoma MW, Sam N, Chirenje MZ, Rusakaniko S, Saugstad LF, de Vlas SJ, Stray-Pedersen B. 2010. *Sexual behaviour does not reflect HIV-1 prevalence differences: a comparison study of Zimbabwe and Tanzania*. Journal of the International AIDS Society, 16;13:45.

Meyer B. 2004. *Christianity in Africa: From African independent to Pentecostal-charismatic churches.* Annual Review of Anthropology, 33:447–474

Michael Marmot, on behalf of the Commission on Social Determinants of Health. 2007. Achieving Health Equity: From Root Causes to Fair Outcomes. [online]. Available from <a href="http://www.v2020la.org/pub/PUBLICATIONS\_BY\_TOPICS/VARIOUS/Achieving%20health%20equity....pdf">http://www.v2020la.org/pub/PUBLICATIONS\_BY\_TOPICS/VARIOUS/Achieving%20health%20equity....pdf</a>. [Accessed 21 Dec, 2010]

Mishra V, Hong R, Bignami-Van Assche S, Barrere B. 2009. *The Role of Partner Reduction and Faithfulness in HIV Prevention in Sub-Saharan Africa: Evidence from Cameroon, Rwanda, Uganda, and Zimbabwe*. DHS Working Papers No.61. Calverton, Maryland: Macro International Inc. Mishra, V., Vaessen, M., Boerma, J.T., Arnold, F., Way, A., Barrere, B., Cross, A., Hong, R., and Sangha, J. 2006. *HIV testing in national population-based surveys: experience from the Demographic and Health Surveys*. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 84(7): 537-545.

**Mishra** V, Assche SB, Greener R, Vaessen M, Hong R, Ghys PD, **Boerma JT**, Van Assche A, Khan S, Rutstein S. 2007. *HIV infection does not disproportionately affect the poorer in sub-Saharan Africa*. AIDS, 21 Suppl 7:S17-28.

Mitsunaga TM, Powell AM, and Heard NJ, Larsen UM. 2005. *Extramarital sex among Nigerian men:* polygyny and other risk factors. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes, 39:478-488.

Mosley, W.H., & Chen, L.C. 2003. *An analytical framework for the study of child survival in developing countries.* Bulletin of the World Health Organization, 81(2), 140\_145.

Morris, M. 2010. Barking up the wrong evidence tree. Comment on Lurie & Rosenthal, "Concurrent partnerships as a driver of the HIV epidemic in Sub-Saharan Africa? The evidence is limited". AIDS and Behaviour, **14:**31-33.

Nunn AJ, Malamba SS, Wagner HU, Maude G, Okongo M, Kengeya-Kayondo JF, Mulder DW.1994. *Risk factors for HIV-1 infection in adults in a rural Ugandan community: A population study.* AIDS, 8(2):253-7.

Paasche-Orlow MK, Clarke JG, Hebert MR, Ray MK, Stein MD. 2005. *Educational attainment but not literacy is associated with HIV risk behaviour among incarcerated women*. Journal of Women's Health,14:852-859.

Parker W, Makhubele B, Ntlabati P, Connolly C. 2007. *Concurrent sexual partnerships amongst young adults in South Africa - Challenges for HIV prevention communication*, CADRE, <a href="http://jhhesa.org/">http://jhhesa.org/</a> [Accessed 2 August, 2011]

Pebody Rodger. 22 December 2009. Concurrent Sexual Partnerships and the Spread of HIV "the evidence is limited. [online]. Available from: <a href="http://aidsmap.com/Concurrent-sexual-partnerships-and-the-spread-of-HIV-the-evidence-is-limited/page/1437223/">http://aidsmap.com/Concurrent-sexual-partnerships-and-the-spread-of-HIV-the-evidence-is-limited/page/1437223/</a>. [Accessed 24 February, 2011]

Parikh SA. 2007. *The political economy of marriage and HIV: the ABC approach, "safe" infidelity, and managing moral risk in Uganda.* American Journal of Public Health, 97:1 198-208.

Poundstone, K.E., Strathdee, S.A., & Celentano, D.D. 2004. *The social epidemiology of human immunodeficiency virus/acquired immunodeficiency syndrome.* Epidemiological Reviews, 26, 22\_35.

Pindyck RS, & Rubinfeld DL.1991. *Economic models and economic forecasts*. 3rd ed. New York: McGraw-Hill.

Quigley M, Munguti K, Grosskurth H, Todd J, Mosha F, Senkoro K, Newell J, Mayaud P, ka-Gina G, Klokke A, Mabey D, Gavyole A, Hayes R.1997. Sexual behaviour patterns and other risk factors for HIV infection in rural Tanzania: a case-control study. AIDS, 11(2):237-48.

Rutstein, Shea O. and Kiersten Johnson. 2004. *The DHS Wealth Index*. DHS Comparative Reports No. 6. Calverton, Maryland: ORC Macro.

Seed J, Allen S, Mertens T, Hudes E, Serufilira A, Carael M, Karita E, Van de Perre P, Nsengumuremyi F. 1995. *Male circumcision, sexually transmitted disease, and risk of HIV.*Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes and Human Retrovirology, 8:83–90.

Shelton JD, Cassell MM, Adetunji J.2005. Is poverty or wealth the root of HIV? Lancet, 366: 1057-8

Shelton JD. Author's reply. Lancet, 374: 1420, 2009.

Slaymaker E. 2004. *A critique of international indicators of sexual risk behaviour.* Sexually Transmitted Infections, 80 (suppl II): 13–21.

Slaymaker E, Walker N, Zaba B, Collumbien M. 2004. Unsafe sex. In:Ezzati M, Lopez AD, Rodgers A, Murray CJL, eds. Comparative quantification of health risks: global and regional burden of disease attributable to selected major risk factors. Geneva: World Health Organization. 1177–254. Schroder KE, Carey MP, Vanable PA. 2003. *Methodological challenges in research on sexual risk behaviour: I. Item content, scaling, and data analytical options.* Annals Behavioural Medicine, 26(2):76–103.

Smith DJ. 2007. *Modern marriage, men's extramarital sex, and HIV risk in south-eastern Nigeria.*American Journal of Public Health, 97:997-1005.

Taruberekera, N. Jafa K, Mushayi W. 2008. *Multiple Concurrent Partnerships in Zimbabwe: Determinants and monitoring indicators.* [online]. Available from:

http://www.psi.org/sites/default/files/publication\_files/807- Zimbabwe\_trac\_mcp\_cdm\_smrs.pdf . [Accessed 23 September].

Tladi LS. 2006. *Poverty and HIV/AIDS in South Africa: an empirical contribution*. Journal of Social Aspects of HIV/AIDS Research Alliance, 3 (1): 369-81.

The Lancet. 2009. UNAIDS Reference Group on Estimates, Modelling, and Projection: Working Group on Measuring Concurrent Sexual Partnerships. HIV: consensus indicators are needed for concurrency. [online]. Available from:

http://www.epidem.org/Publications/LancetComment\_UNAIDSRefGroup\_FINAL.pdf. [Accessed 6 Nov, 2011]

UNAIDS.2009. Consultation on concurrent sexual partnerships: recommendations from a meeting of the UNAIDS Reference Group on Estimates, Modelling and Projections held in Nairobi, Kenya, April 20–21st 2009. [online]. Available from:

http://www.epidem.org/Publications/Concurrency%20meeting%20recommendations\_Final.pdf. [Accessed February 2011].

UNAIDS. 2006. Experts Think Tank Meeting on HIV Prevention in High-Prevalence Countries in Southern Africa (2006: Southern African Development Community (SADC) Meeting Report, May 2006. Gaborone. [online]. Available from

http://data.unaids.org/pub/report/2006/20060601\_sadc\_meeting\_report\_en.pdf [Accessed 2 November, 2010)

UNAIDS Regional Support Team For Eastern and Southern Africa. 2010. Multiple Concurrent Partnerships. [online]. Available from <a href="http://www.unaidsrstesa.org">http://www.unaidsrstesa.org</a>. [Accessed 16 February, 2011]

Uusihakala, K. 2007. Crisis in Zimbabwe- Introduction to the first biannual Marja-Liisa Swantz lecture by Terence Ranger [online]. Available from

http://www.etmu.fi/fjem/pdf/FJEM\_1\_2007.pdf. [Accessed on 21 Dec, 2010]

UNGASS. 2010. Zimbabwe UNGASS Country Progress Report.

UNIFEM. 2002. Gender and HIV AIDS in Zimbabwe-a community based research.

Voeten HA, Egesah OB, Habbema JD. 2004. *Sexual behaviour is more risky in rural than in urban areas among young women in Nyanza province, Kenya*. Sexually Transmitted Diseases 31:481-487.

Weller S & Davis K. 2002. *Condom effectiveness in reducing heterosexual HIV transmission.* Cochrane Database Syst Rev.1:CD003255.

Watts, H., Gregson, S., Saito, S., Lopman, B., Beasley, M., & Monasch, R. 2007. *Poorer health and nutritional outcomes in orphans and vulnerable young children not explained by greater exposure to extreme poverty in Zimbabwe*. Tropical Medicine & International Health, 12(5), 584\_593.

Zimbabwe Demographic and Health Survey. 2007. *Zimbabwe Demographic and Health Survey* 2005 – 2006, Central Statistics Office (CSO), Harare, Zimbabwe.

# **APPENDIX ONE**

APPENDIX 3.2 RECODING AND DEFINITION OF INDEPENDENT VARIABLES

VARIABLES	MEASUREMENT	VARIABLE	VARIABLE TRANSFORMATION (RECODING) / DEFINITION
		EXTRACTED FROM	
		2005/6 DHS	
	Household Wealth of men who participated in the survey		For the purposes of this study the 2005/6 ZDHS variable was recoded into the following categories:
			(Poorest + poorer) were recoded as: Poor households (1)
			Middle) were recoded as: Middle wealth households (2)
			(Richer + richest) were recoded as: wealthy households. (3)
	Education level of survey participants	Education level	For the purposes of this study the 2005/6 ZDHS variable categories were recoded into the following categories:
			(No education+ primary) were recoded as: Primary education (1)
			(Secondary education (2)
			Higher education (3)
Age	Age of participants		The 2005/6 ZDHS variable was then recoded into different variable with the following categories:
			15-24 age group (1)
			25-34 age group (2)
			34-44 age group (3)
			45+ age group (4)

Marital Sta	atus Marital status of the	Marital status	The 2005/6 ZDHS variable categories were recoded into the
	participants		following categories:
			Never married (1)
			Married /Living together (2)
			Divorced/ not living together/widowed (3)
Place of	Indicated place of residence of	Place of residence	Place of residence were recoded in the 2005/6 ZDHS and categorized as:
residence	survey participants		Rural (1)
			Urban (2)
Region	Indicated region of residence of survey participants	Region of residence	Region of residence in the 2005/6 ZDHS was recoded as regions with following categories:
			Harare (1), Bulawayo (2),
			Manicaland (3), (Mashonaland East (4)
			Mashonaland West (5), Mashonaland Central (6)
			Masvingo (7), Matabeleland North (8)
			Matebeleland South (9), Midlands (10)

Religion	Indicated religious affiliation of R survey respondents	eligious affiliation	For the purposes of this study the 2005/6 ZDHS Religious affiliation variable categories were recoded as follows:
			None (1)
			Roman Catholic (2)
			Protestant / Pentecostal (3)
			Apostolic sect (4)
			Other Christian (5)
			Traditional (6)
			Muslim (missing, too few cases)